# EFFECTS OF DIFFERENTIATION OF SELF AND PROACTIVE BEHAVIORS ON CAREER DECISION-MAKING OF COLLEGE STUDENTS

## A Dissertation

by

## WAYNE DOUGLAS SMITH

A.A., Coastal Bend College, 2005 B.A., Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi, 2008 M.A., Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi, 2011

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR of PHILOSOPHY

in

**COUNSELOR EDUCATION** 

Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi Corpus Christi, Texas

August 2015

© Wayne Douglas Smith
All Rights Reserved
August 2015

# EFFECTS OF DIFFERENTIATION OF SELF AND PROACTIVE BEHAVIORS ON CAREER DECISION-MAKING OF COLLEGE STUDENTS

## A Dissertation

by

## WAYNE DOUGLAS SMITH

This dissertation meets the standards for scope and quality of Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi and is hereby approved.

Marvarene Oliver, EdD Chair Robert L. Smith, PhD Committee Member

Michelle Hunnicutt Hollenbaugh, PhD Committee Member Thomas Naehr, PhD Graduate Faculty Representative

#### **ABSTRACT**

We live in a world of increasing modernization which has led to a rise in the number of occupational paths, specializations, trainings, and job types (Gati & Levin, 2014). Given the importance of career and work in an individual's life, it is prudent to understand as fully as possible the characteristics that can influence one's career development process. Understanding the impact of differentiation of self and proactivity may lay the groundwork for future interventions with secondary and post-secondary students as well as those already in the workforce. The primary purpose of this multiple regression investigation was to determine how differentiation of self and proactive personality predict career decidedness.

The sample for this study consisted of 164 college students enrolled in undergraduate level courses at a Hispanic serving institution in South Texas. All participants were provided a sealed envelope that included a (a) demographic form, (b) Proactive Personality Scale, (c) Differentiation of Self Inventory, and (d) Career Decision Scale. A correlation design was used to predict criterion variables with knowledge of other variables (Gay & Airasian, 2011). More specifically, the method of data analysis used for this study was a multiple regression.

The findings of the multiple regression indicated proactive personality and differentiation of self were statistically significant predictors of career decidedness. Three of the differentiation of self subscales, Emotional Reactivity, Emotional Cutoff, and Fusion with Others, were significant predictors of career decidedness. Results suggest elements from each of the differentiation of self and proactive personality measures significantly predicted career decision-making.

The findings from this study are valuable to career counselors, students attempting to decide which career to pursue, and family members and friends who influence the career

decision-making of students. Directions for future research are: including greater diversity in ethnicity and gender, sampling young adults who are not in college, and researching how the quality of relationships within the family affects one's career decision-making.

## DEDICATION

To everyone in the midst of deciding which career to choose, no matter what age. Please know that it is acceptable to change your mind and decide to pursue multiple careers throughout your life. Your vocation or "calling" is a journey in itself with several destinations along the way. Enjoy the ride.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The following acknowledgements are my thoughts of appreciation and gratitude to a number of individuals who have influenced me on my journey to the doctorate. This journey included both unconditional support and unwavering adversity as I made it to my final destination, the doctorate. These acknowledgements are not meant to be exhaustive and will provide special thanks to individuals who have impacted and will continue to influence my life for years to come.

First and foremost, I am truly grateful and thankful to Jesus Christ my Lord and Savior. The unconditional guidance and eternal love I receive from God is incredible! He is in the driver seat of my life and guides me along a path of both success and failure to be in the position I am today. I engaged in both trials and tribulations to build my resiliency and I am stronger today for all the experiences I have encountered. Thank you God, for protecting me along the way and building my empathy and compassion to a level unprecedented. I look forward to the rest of my life with you as my pilot and rock.

The most influential person on this earth who has shaped my personality and loving heart is my mama. My mother, a woman of integrity, spirituality, love, and honor, managed to raise three boys on her own whom have become men of decency. She models being a teacher, researcher, counselor, servant, and consultant without any formal training or education. She was blessed with knowledge and wisdom beyond her realm and instilled virtuousness in my heart, soul, and spirit. Without her, I would be naked and ashamed. With her, I am truly blessed with an angel who accepts me without hesitation. I am humbled before her and God. I am glad we chose to be together on this earth to find our way back to Heaven. Thank you Mammogram!

My success and happiness in the doctoral program can be traced to a friend who supported my endeavors and had my back no matter what the circumstances, James "Jimmy" Ikonomopoulos, "The Ikon." James and I met a semester prior to starting the doctoral program when he was recognized for his service with MHMR. At this meeting I knew I made a connection with an individual that could not be broken. He admitted he applied for the doctoral program and I had to admit my prayers for us both to enter the doctoral program to achieve our dreams. From the start of the doctoral program to now, James and I have collaborated on research, presented several presentations as a team, discussed challenges and successes in our personal lives, played basketball and chess together to take each other to the next level, and have truly developed a bond that will go beyond this world. The memories we shared in the doctoral program that bring both laughter and tears cannot be replicated. Now we stand together as faculty members at The University of Texas at Brownsville. We out chea!

Special love and recognition must be made to my two older brothers who have experienced some of the greatest and worst memories of our lives together. These two gentlemen are role models for me, their children, their colleagues, and everyone in this nation they are serving. J, thank you for teaching me how to reflect and be a man that thinks beyond his needs to serve others. From childhood to today, you have been a man to follow to greatness. Will, thank you for protecting me and modeling selflessness and generosity that transcends this earth. Your giving heart and unconditional love has shaped me to be the man I am today. Brothers, I love you, your wives, your children, and your spirits. Thank you Bubbies!

Thank you to my dissertation committee members for supporting me through this rite of passage to become a counselor educator. Thank you Dr. Oliver for being my committee chair and supporting me with writing this monumental paper. Without your support and guidance

during this process and throughout the graduate program, my clinical skills and writing would be elementary. You are a great mentor for me and the many students you have significantly affected. Thank you Dr. Smith for being "the man" and providing me with wisdom and insight that I will hold for the rest of my life. Thank you for being a mentor that keeps me in check with reality and taught me how to become self-aware to be the best counselor educator I can be. With your unwavering support from the first class I took in the Master's program to my final class in the Doctoral program, I am a better educator because of your constructive influence. What can I say, we are both Smiths. Thank you Dr. Hollenbaugh for your genuineness and guidance as my statistician. From our first encounter preparing for our summer class in Costa Rica to my final statistics class, your passion for counseling is both evident and contagious. Go Buckeyes!

A special thanks to the entire counseling and psychology program faculty at Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi. Due to the exposure to a majority of the faculty at this university through coursework, service, and clinical experience, my personality and counseling approach has a little piece of each and every one of you. To Dr. Bibberstein and Dr. Luther for modeling teacher excellence and counseling expertise, to Dr. Balkin for being a legend and showing me that I can be myself, to Dr. Hill for teaching me how to stand up for myself, and to Dr. Hartlaub for being an amazing teacher and a man of fine character. I think I find my teaching style to be most like yours Dr. Hartlaub, student centered and making learning fun! Your continued advice and words of wisdom will remain with me.

Additional gratitude and thanks need to be made to many others I have interacted with along my journey at this university and beyond. I must thank the faculty and staff at The University of Texas at Brownsville for supporting me this year as I taught three counseling courses a semester while completing my dissertation. Thank you Dr. Whittenberg for allowing

me to utilize resources for my classes during instruction and testing. Thank you Dr. Cavazos for supporting me with research. I am truly grateful to be a part of your research teams and to have you as not only a colleague, but also a friend. I am glad to have you as the rock in our program and a model of excellence. Thank you for helping me feel like family. Yay Yay!

Before I conclude this section of my dissertation I must thank a few more individuals. Thank you to the students in Cohort XI and XII. Cohort XII rocks! I must also thank Dr. Flamez for providing me with opportunities to engage in service and clinical practice. You are a true model of altruism and humanity to everyone you serve. Thank you Dr. Flamez for your continuous support and friendship. Thank you to Iza Martinez for making initial edits to my dissertation. You are a true friend and I am grateful to have had you in my life for almost nine years. Thank you to Misty and Patricia at the TAMUCC CASA writing center for assisting with editing as well. Thank you to Dr. Ramirez, Dr. Hartlaub, Dr. Seidel, and Dr. Benibo at TAMUCC for assisting me with data collection. You all are true models of excellence and great mentors in my life. Thank you to the students, clients, colleagues, friends, and family who have entered my life and had a part in making me who I am today. I may not remember your names but I will always cherish our memories. Your stories are safe with me.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTENTS	PAGE
ABSTRACT	v
DEDICATION	vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	viii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	xii
LIST OF TABLES	xv
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem	3
Purpose of the Study	3
Research Questions	4
Significance of Study	4
Methodology	5
Population and Sample	5
Data Collection	6
Instrumentation	6
Data Analysis	8
Basic Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Definition of Terms	9
Organization of Remaining Chapters	10
CHAPTER II: THE LITERATURE REVIEW	11
Career Exploration	11

	Career Indecision.	. 12
	Theoretical Model of Career Development.	. 13
	Social Cognitive Theory	. 13
	Social Cognitive Career Theory	. 15
	Career Decision-Making	. 18
	Rational Models of Career Decision-Making.	. 20
	Other-Than-Rational Models of Career Decision-Making	. 22
	Career Decision-Making Assessments	. 23
	Career Decision-Making and College Students.	. 24
	Differentiation of Self	. 26
	Components of Differentiation of Self	. 29
	Differentiation of Self and Career Development.	. 31
	Proactive Personality	32
	Proactive Personality and Career Development	. 34
	Summary	. 35
C	HAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	. 36
	Purpose of Study	. 36
	Research Questions	. 36
	Sample	. 36
	Measures	37
	Procedures	. 41
	Research Design	. 42
	Data Analysis	43

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	46
Introduction	46
Demographics	46
Data Analysis	48
Analysis	51
Research Question 1	51
Research Question 2	52
Research Question 3	52
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	54
Limitations	56
Implications	58
Future Directions for Research	60
Conclusions	61
REFERENCES	62
APPENDICES	77
Appendix A: Demographic Form	77
Appendix B: Shortened Version of Bateman and Crant's (1993) Proactive Personality	y Scale 78
Appendix C: Differentiation of Self Inventory	79
Appendix D: IRB Approval Letter	82

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLES	PAGE
Table 1: Descriptive Statistics for Participant Demographics	47
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics.	48
Table 3: Pearson Correlations.	49
Table 4: Summary of Variables Predicting Career Indecision	50
Table 5: Collinearity Statistics	51

#### CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Many factors contribute to the difficulties and complexities involved in the career decision-making process (Gati, 1986; Sauermann, 2005). Some of these include the large number of jobs to choose from, decision-making, uncertainty about the world of work, social barriers, and fear of making the wrong decision (Gati & Levin, 2014). Barriers also include personal characteristics and circumstances of the individual searching for work (Sampson Jr., McClain, Musch, & Reardon, 2013). These include verbal aptitude, life experiences, and negative thoughts and feelings (Sampson Jr. et al., 2013).

According to Bowen (1978), differentiation of self is a very important process where the individual begins to feel, think, and act on his or her own behalf. Individuals come to see themselves as distinct human beings who are different from others. When the person becomes emotionally separate with a higher level of differentiation there is the possibility of healthier functioning within the family. Kerr and Bowen (1988) believed that a person who has a high level of differentiation could distinguish their feelings and thoughts from those of their family of origin. This would enable the individual to interact with their environment in a more responsive manner (Kerr & Bowen, 1988).

Additionally, Kerr and Bowen (1988) indicated the family unit has emotional ties and responds in similar ways with each other and society. In a family that has a lower level of differentiation, members have struggles related to autonomy and feel pressure to stay together. With a family that has a higher level of differentiation, members are often able to gain autonomy of self and maintain effective intimacy with other family members (Kerr & Bowen, 1988).

Research indicates a relationship between differentiation of self and career development (Johnson, Schamuhn, Nelson, & Buboltz 2014). There is some evidence that a balance of

physiological security and healthy levels of attachment to the caregiver may aid career development and decision-making (Lee & Hughey, 2001; Rainey & Borders, 1997). Lease and Dahlbeck (2009) found that higher perceived quality of and the positive relationship between college students and their mothers fostered students' independence and elevated their degrees of career decision self-efficacy. Research findings support a positive correlation between mothers who facilitated their student's college independence and high levels of self-efficacy (Lease & Dahlbeck, 2009).

According to Johnson, Schamuhn, Nelson, and Buboltz (2014), differentiation of self has an effect on the career development of college students. In a study conducted with 231 college students using the Differentiation of Self Inventory (Skowron & Friedlander, 1998), My Vocational Situation (Holland, Daiger, & Power, 1980), and the Career Decision Profile (Jones & Lohmann, 1998), results indicated that individuals who were more differentiated would be more likely to have higher levels of vocational identity and career decidedness (Johnson et al., 2014). This means that differentiation predicted healthy career development, which includes decidedness, comfort, and knowledge of career.

Proactive personality refers to a stable disposition in which an individual takes initiative in a wide-range of activities and circumstances (Bateman & Crant, 1993). Individuals viewed as being proactive are not constrained by the situation they find themselves in and are more likely to act on opportunities (Bateman & Crant, 1993). Individuals deemed highly proactive are able to "identify opportunities and act on them, show initiative, and persevere until they bring about meaningful change" (Seibert, Crant, & Kraimer, 1999, p. 417). Those viewed as less proactive are deemed passive and adapt to their situation rather than trying to change it (Siebert et al., 1999).

There is a link between a proactive personality trait and career variables such as career success and career initiative (Fuller & Marler, 2009). According to a meta-analysis conducted by Fuller and Marler (2009), individuals with a proactive personality are more likely to experience greater career success and job satisfaction than individuals who are more passive. According to Hsieh and Huang (2014), socioeconomic status and proactive personality were positively connected with career decision self-efficacy, the belief that one can complete tasks important for career decision-making.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Previous research has found that the differentiation level of an individual affects emotional, physical, and social health (Kerr & Bowen, 1988). Skowron and Friedlander (1998) found that individuals with lower levels of differentiation of self have higher levels of symptomatic distress and long-lasting anxiety. Johnson et al. (2014) found that higher differentiation of self predicted higher levels of vocational identity and higher levels of career decidedness. Proactive personality has been linked to career success and career initiative (Fuller & Marler, 2009) as well as to career decision self-efficacy (Hsieh & Huang, 2014). Research studies have not explored the relationship between differentiation of self, proactive personality, and career decision-making.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this multiple regression study is to find how differentiation of self and proactive personality predict career decidedness. The results of this study will add to the literature concerning career development.

#### **Research Questions**

The primary research questions are:

- 1. To what extent does proactive personality predict career indecision?
- 2. To what extent does differentiation of self predict career indecision?
- 3. To what extent do proactive personality and differentiation of self predict career indecision?

## **Significance of Study**

Deciding one's future career is challenging to most college students (Kim et al., 2014). Career paths are becoming less predictable and individuals are required to be more flexible (Krumboltz & Levin, 2010). Due to this phenomenon, work experiences across the lifespan includes multiple employers and work arrangements (Hall, 1996). When individuals are transitioning between jobs, they are usually overwhelmed and struggle to plan their career path. They are more likely to seek help from professionals to assist with the decision to choose a career that will fit their desires (Illouz, 2008).

For most students, the search for a job and exploring different vocations is one of the most significant responsibilities of an individual (Kim et al., 2014). Individuals engaged in the process of exploring career goals appear to be more prepared for work and satisfied in their careers (Cox, Rasmussen, & Conrad, 2007). By engaging in career-exploration activities, the individual can enhance his or her confidence that a good career decision will be made (Zunker, 2001).

Given the importance of career and work in an individual's life, it is prudent to understand as fully as possible various characteristics that can influence the career development process. Understanding the impact of differentiation of self and proactivity may lay the

groundwork for interventions with secondary and post-secondary students as well as those already in the workforce.

### Methodology

This study employed multiple regression to investigate whether proactive personality and differentiation of self would predict career decidedness. The institutional review board of the affiliated university attended by the author approved this study.

## **Population and Sample**

Instructors in the College of Liberal Arts at a university in the Southwest were contacted and permission was requested to solicit their students' as participants in this study. After obtaining the instructors' permission, the researcher met with approved classes. The study was explained to students who were then provided the opportunity to ask questions. Additionally, students were informed that participation was both voluntary and anonymous (i.e., although they were asked for demographic data, they were not asked to provide identifying information on the protocol that would connect them to the study).

Participants of this study included 164 college students enrolled in undergraduate level courses at a Hispanic serving institution. The sample included students attending undergraduate courses registered as freshmen, sophomores, juniors, or seniors. Participants were enrolled as full-time or part-time students at the time of the administration of the assessments. The classes in which assessments were distributed were selected conveniently from the College of Liberal Arts. The researcher distributed the assessments to classes of freshman, sophomores, juniors, and seniors. These classes included a variety of different classifications of students and the researcher obtained a sample which included all levels of undergraduate students.

#### **Data Collection**

The researcher introduced the study to each class and responded to questions. Once questions were addressed, the researcher provided students with a packet containing the information sheet, demographic form, and three instruments. The demographic form and three instruments in each packet were marked with an identifying number. The information sheet was not marked. Thus, in the first envelope, the demographic form and the three instruments had the numeral 1 placed in the top right corner. The researcher explained the contents and asked that students willing to participate in the study review the information sheet included in the packet and proceed to completing the instruments. Those who did not participate sat quietly or left while those who participated completed the instruments. The researcher left the classroom while those who agreed to participate completed the protocol. Once protocols were completed, the researcher returned to the classroom and collected all packets. All students were thanked for their participation. The researcher left the class and moved to a secure area and separated any protocols not completed. Envelopes were stored inside a locked cabinet in the researcher's home in a locked closet. The demographic questionnaire and three assessments required less than 20 minutes to complete.

#### Instrumentation

Proactive personality was measured using a shortened version of Bateman and Crant's (1993) original Proactive Personality Scale (PPS) which contains ten items as compared to the original scale which contains seventeen items (Seibert et al., 1999). The shortened version was created by Seibert, Crant, and Kraimer (1999) by selecting ten items with the highest average factor loadings with Cronbach's alpha at .86. Two sample items are "If I see something I don't like, I fix it" and "I can spot a good opportunity long before others can." Individuals responding

to the assessment indicated their agreement with each statement on a 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree).

The Differentiation of Self Inventory (DSI) by Skowron and Friedlander (1998) has 43 items which are rated on a 6-point scale generating a total differentiation score and four subscale scores. By using a factor analysis, the authors of this instrument were able to support the four subscales as being distinct factors of the single construct differentiation of self. The first subscale is Emotional Reactivity which relates to how an individual responds to external stimuli with emotional lability, flooding, or hypersensitivity. The second subscale is I Position which reflects a clearly defined sense of self and ability to adhere to one's beliefs despite opposing action. The third subscale is Emotional Cutoff and reflects the individual's level of being threatened by intimacy and feeling vulnerable in relationships with others. The fourth subscale is Fusion With Others which measures emotional over involvement with others. Individuals who have elevated scores on the DSI are more differentiated which means they are less fused with others, are less emotionally cutoff from others, are less emotionally reactive, and have a clearly defined sense of self.

The Career Decision Scale (CDS; Osipow, 1987) is a 19-item instrument that measures career indecision with each item rated on a 1 (not at all like me) to 4 (exactly like me) scale. Higher scores reflect greater indecision. The assessment includes two items that measure career certainty, sixteen items that measure indecision, and one item that is open-ended which allows the participant to provide further information about career decidedness if none of the items described him or her. Cumulative scores are obtained, with higher scores reflecting less certainty and greater indecision (Osipow, 1987).

### **Data Analysis**

The method of data analysis the researcher employed for this study was multiple regression. Multiple regression is a statistical tool used to understand the relationship between two or more variables (Dimitrov, 2009). Further, one dependent variable is predicted from two or more independent variables (Dimitrov, 2009). Multiple regression appears to be the best fit due to the number of variables involved when attempting to predict the type of relationship between differentiation of self, proactive personality, and career decision-making. The researcher wanted to learn more about the relationship between the predictor variables (proactive personality and differentiation of self) and the criterion variable (career decidedness). An a priori power analysis was conducted utilizing G\*Power 3.1 (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009) to identify the necessary sample size for a multiple regression. With a small effect size of  $f^2 = .15$ , (Cohen, 1988), an alpha level of .05, and adequate power (1- $\beta$  = .95; Cohen, 1988), a sample size of 146 was considered necessary.

## **Basic Assumptions**

There are three main assumptions related to this study. The first assumption is that the subjects provided truthful responses when completing the assessments to measure proactive personality, career decision-making, and differentiation of self. In addition, it is assumed that participants provided honest responses to each one of the three assessments. Furthermore, the researcher assumed that participants completed the surveys without help.

#### Limitations

A limitation to the study is that the multiple regression design does not indicate a causal relationship. The author can discuss relationships among the variables but cannot assume that variables are causal. In addition, because the sample was convenient, there is a possibility that

individuals who chose to participate may be different in meaningful ways from those participants who chose not to participate. Thus, the findings cannot be generalized to other groups that do not match the sample's characteristics.

Another limitation of this study is that all measures were self-reported by the respondents. Thus, the researcher had to rely on the honest and candid responses provided by the subjects. A number of factors when completing the assessment including motivation to begin their scheduled class, interest in the research topic, pressure to participate, and environmental variables could have influenced the respondents.

## **Definition of Terms**

- Career Decision-Making: Refers to where the individual is in the process of career development and where they want to go next (Jones & Lohmann, 1998).
- Career Decidedness: Relates to the overall career decision status of the individual and how decided they are about their career choice.
- College Students: Are individuals who are enrolled in a four year university and taking college coursework.
- Differentiation of Self: Refers to how differentiated an individual is from their family of origin.

  This includes the degree to which an individual is able to balance their intellectual and emotional functioning along with intimacy and autonomy in relationships (Bowen, 1978).

  Differentiation of self includes the ability an individual has to distinguish thoughts from feelings and be more flexible.
- Proactive Personality: Refers to a stable disposition in which an individual takes initiative in a wide-range of activities and circumstances (Bateman & Crant, 1993). Individuals who

are viewed as being proactive are not constrained by the situation they find themselves in and are more likely to act on opportunities (Bateman & Crant, 1993).

# **Organization of Remaining Chapters**

The remaining chapters of this dissertation include a review of the literature in chapter two, description of methods used in chapter three, results in chapter four, and a discussion in chapter five. The discussion includes recommendations for future studies and implications for career counselors.

#### CHAPTER II: THE LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **Career Exploration**

Contrary to the past, career decision-making is not as simple as matching individuals to jobs and expecting them to remain in the same job until retirement (Tolentino et al., 2014).

According to the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (2010), workers age 18 to 46 average ten different jobs during their lifetime. This average increases to 11 jobs or more for individuals with some college education and above (United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2010).

Today, individuals live in a world of increasing modernization, which has led to a rise in the number of occupational paths, specializations, trainings, and types of jobs (Gati & Levin, 2014). At the same time, career paths of individuals are less predictable and require more flexibility (Krumboltz & Levin, 2010). Now, individuals find themselves struggling to plan their future, feel overwhelmed with all the possibilities of career choices, and seek help from professionals to assist them with deciding on a career choice that is best suited for them (Illouz, 2008). This also has a profound effect on graduating students who are experiencing severe employment pressure due to the global financial crisis (Tolentino et al., 2014).

For most students, the search for a job and exploring different vocations is one of the most significant responsibilities of an individual (Kim et al., 2014). Individuals engaged in the process of exploring career goals appear to be more prepared for work and satisfied in their careers (Cox, Rasmussen, & Conrad, 2007). By engaging in career-exploration activities, the individual can enhance his or her confidence that a good career decision will be made (Zunker, 2001).

Given the importance of career and work in an individual's life, it is prudent to understand as fully as possible various characteristics that can impact the career development

process. Understanding the impact of differentiation of self and proactivity may lay the groundwork for interventions with secondary and post-secondary students as well as those already in the workforce.

#### Career Indecision

Career indecision was defined by Callanan and Greenhaus (1990) as "an inability of a person to choose a specific occupation to pursue" (p. 80) and was a status they intended to refer to students. Ashby, Wall, & Osipow (1966) defined being decided or undecided by whether or not students had committed to a field of occupation. Fuqua and Hartman (1983) also targeted their definition of career indecision to students, but outlined a more complex view, which was composed of different subtypes of career indecision. According to the definition by Fuqua and Hartman (1983), career indecision is multidimensional and includes developmental, situational, and chronic psychological concerns, which affect career decisions of students. Fuqua and Hartman (1983) posited that by categorizing the students in one of these three dimensions, remediation could be provided to assist students with making a decision about their career choice.

The definition of career indecision was expanded to include adults currently in the workforce (Callanan & Greenhaus, 1990). Callanan and Greenhaus (1990) proposed that career indecision is composed of two variables, which are status and sources of career indecision.

Status refers to the inability to choose a career goal or having chosen a career goal but feeling uncertain about the choice. Sources refer to the factors that highlight why individuals are undecided about their career choices (Callanan & Greenhaus, 1990). With the definition of career indecision expanding, the focus of career indecision is on career goals, not solely occupations, and the factors that lead to individuals being decided about their career.

According to research by Callanan and Greenhaus (1992), career indecision emphasizes the differences between students who were undecided and decided in their career in order to understand those factors that may explain the student's failure to choose a major in college or occupation. Callanan and Greenhaus examined career indecision subtypes among 397 manager and professionals working for a banking firm. The researchers, utilizing factor analysis, identified four subtypes for career undecided and decided employees. Two subtypes were for career undecided employees (chronic and developmental), and the two other subtypes were for career decided employees (vigilant and hyper vigilant). The employees who were undecided in their careers experienced greater anxiety and lacked self-confidence as compared with those who were decided in their career (Callanan & Greenhaus, 1992). This anxiety related to career indecision prevented individuals from seeking information about careers or distorted the information they did receive about careers (Sugalski & Greenhaus, 1986).

## **Theoretical Model of Career Development**

A number of theoretical foundations explain career development. Social cognitive career theory (SCCT; Lent, Brown, & Hackett, 1994) is one conceptually sound paradigm according to meta-analyses conducted by Brown et al. (2008) and Robbins et al. (2004) which provide empirical support for the SCCT model in general. In this paradigm, social and cognitive influences are understood to play an integral role in career development. It is presented to provide a starting point and background in which to consider when discussing career development.

#### **Social Cognitive Theory**

To gain a better understanding of SCCT, an understanding of social cognitive theory must first be explored. Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory is prominent among models of

social cognition. Social cognitive theory provides a theoretical framework for explaining why individuals attain and maintain beneficial behaviors. According to Bandura (1986), human behavior is the product of the dynamic connection between environmental, personal, and behavioral factors, also referred to as reciprocal determinism. The term reciprocal determinism refers to how each of these three factors may affect or be affected by one another.

The central determinant of social cognitive theory is considered to be self-efficacy because it influences behavior in a direct and indirect manner (Dewar et al., 2013). This behavioral influence is displayed through goals, expectations of outcome, perceived facilitators, and perceived impediments (Dewar et al., 2013). Further, the term self-efficacy denotes a person's belief in their capability to implement control over their behavior (Dewar et al., 2013). The personal belief of the individual is vital in change because it offers inspiration and reward to overcome obstacles to change, and it arouses feelings of empowerment to enact change (Dewar et al., 2013).

A basic tenant of social cognitive theory is that the individual learns what he/she observes (Bandura, 1986). Individuals learn by observing the consequences of their own behaviors or by observing others experiencing consequences from their behaviors (Bandura, 1986). This is understood in terms of the effects of direct or vicarious reinforcement and punishment (Bandura, 1986). Learning is viewed as a continuous process that allows individuals to translate what they have learned into performance when they are rewarded to engage in certain behaviors (Bandura, 1986). Thus, through observation, humans are conditioned to engage in a variety of behaviors.

According to Bandura (1986), attentional processes, retentional processes, motor reproduction processes, and motivational processes influence learning via observation.

Attentional processes can assist with determining what individuals can and cannot do; retentional

processes determine how experiences are encoded in memory; motor reproduction processes determine which behaviors can be performed; and motivational processes determine the circumstances in which learning is transformed into performance (Bandura, 1986).

Bandura (2004) presented a model that specifies a core set of determinants and mechanisms, which are operationalized to influence health-promoting behavior. More specifically, these determinants are self-efficacy goals, knowledge, outcome expectations, perceived facilitators, and perceived impediments (Bandura, 2004). Bandura's model posits that knowledge and benefits of a particular health-related issue is a precondition for behavior change, but to aid individuals to overcome possible energy needed to change, self-influences are critical.

## **Social Cognitive Career Theory**

Social cognitive career theory (SCCT) offers a useful framework for understanding career decision-making and self-efficacy of undergraduate students. Based on Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory, SCCT focuses on the relationship among the individual, the environment, and behavioral influences during career development (Lent et al., 1994).

According to SCCT, the interaction among people, the environment, and behavioral effects influence how individuals develop their career interests, revise their career and academic plans, and perform in their pursuit of a career and academics (Lent, Brown, & Hackett, 2000). The central tenet of this theory is that variables from the environment are interpreted by the individual, which leads to differences in self-efficacy, career goals, and outcome expectations within the individual (Lent et al., 1994). However, the effects of environmental affordances on career progress are equally emphasized in this theory (Jiang & Zhang, 2012). Also, other individuals and environmental factors in an individual's life influence career development (Jiang & Zhang, 2012).

One focus of SCCT is the important role of self-efficacy beliefs in career development. Self-efficacy beliefs signify how the individual views her or his capabilities to perform an action (Bandura, 1977). Further, variables in the environment that rest outside the individual may affect confidence in one's ability to succeed at a task or performing an action (Lent et al., 1994). In addition, this model suggests that self-efficacy is affected through different person inputs and learning experiences (Lent et al., 1994). As defined by Lent et al. (1994), person inputs are individual variables such as personality dispositions, ethnicity, gender, or other personal factors that may influence career development. For example, men and women choose different types of careers based on traditional or nontraditional gender roles.

Within the SCCT model, the assumption is that an individual's self-efficacy beliefs influence outcome expectation (Lent et al., 1994). Outcome expectations are negative or positive experiences related to career that are anticipated to occur in the future in a specified domain (Lent et al., 2008). In addition, outcome expectations and self-efficacy are anticipated to contribute to the individual becoming interested in a specific occupation or career choice. If an individual believes he/she can succeed at tasks associated with their career and obtain the desired outcomes from performing these actions, then the individual will be more likely to form interests in the career of their choice.

(Bandura, 2011).

There are a number of studies in the literature that have made use of SCCT to examine self-efficacy beliefs and career decision-making progress of the individual. Lent et al. (2003) tested two alternative models of the paths by which environmental supports and barriers relate to choice behavior. The researchers utilized 328 participants who completed measures related to SCCT's person input and contextual variables with students pursuing a major in engineering

(Lent et al., 2003). The results of this study empirically demonstrated that when individuals perceive others as supportive and recognize few career obstacles, self-efficacy and career decision-making are increased (Lent at al., 2003). Additionally, attachment styles can affect the SCCT variables of these supports and barriers (Lent et al., 2003).

The research by Lent et al (2003) aligns with research by Quimby & O'Brien (2004) which related social support with career decision self-efficacy. In this study, 354 nontraditional college women were surveyed with self-efficacy, career barriers, and perceived social support assessments to measure their level of confidence in their ability to pursue career related tasks and manage their roles as students (Quimby & O'Brien, 2004). Findings suggest that the study's participants felt confident in completing the tasks necessary to develop their career and perceived that they were receiving strong levels of social support (Quimby & O'Brien, 2004).

Further, a similar study found that attachment was positively related to the perception of college students' academic capability (Wright, Perrone-McGovern, Boo & White, 2014). In this study, 486 participants were surveyed regarding their perceived support and career barriers (Wright et al., 2014). Wright, Perrone-McGovern, Boo, and White (2014) wanted to see if these factors mediated the relationship between attachment and self-efficacy in students. The findings support that individuals who are more securely attached perceived greater support socially, fewer barriers in their career, and had higher self-efficacy in their academic and career efforts (Wright et al., 2014).

Jiang and Zhang (2012) conducted a study to research students' academic self-efficacy, goals, interests, and perceptions of social supports and barriers to see if these factors influenced their career development. SCCT was utilized with 578 Chinese vocational school students to predict their academic interests and goals (Jiang & Zhang, 2012). The results suggested that

academic interests were predicted by self-efficacy and outcome expectations (Jiang & Zhang, 2012). In addition, academic goals were linked to interests and social support, and barriers predicted self-efficacy and social supports (Jiang & Zhang, 2012). Finally, outcome expectations and self-efficacy did not predict academic goals (Jiang & Zhang, 2012).

A study conducted by Ali and Menke (2014) utilized SCCT to investigate high school students career development. In this study, 94 participants living in rural communities with a large population of Latino immigrants completed assessments related to career skills self-efficacy, career aspirations, barriers to postsecondary education, and career decision outcome expectations (Ali & Menke, 2014). The findings indicated Latino students held higher self-efficacy beliefs and perceived barriers than White students in the same community (Ali & Menke, 2014).

Finally, Conklin, Dahling, and Garcia (2013), investigated the satisfaction model of SCCT to question whether college students' affective commitment to their major was linked to career decision self-efficacy. Conklin et al. (2013) utilized 200 students from a small college in the United States. Findings suggested that self-efficacy acts as a mediating factor between outcome expectations and affective commitment to major (Conkling, Dahling, & Garcia, 2013).

#### **Career Decision-Making**

According to Gati and Asher (2001), career decision-making has been prevalent in the literature for many years. Swanson and D'Achiardi (2005) designated the process of career decision-making as how individuals make career and education decisions. Career decision-making refers to where the individual is in the process of career development and where they want to go next (Jones & Lohmann, 1998). According to Gati (1986), career decision-making involves a process which is objective, logical, and systematic. Gati and Levin (2014) proposed

that "career decision making requires gathering information about one's preferences and abilities and the various occupational alternatives and training tracks, as well as the subsequent processing of this information" (p. 99-100). Further, Esters (2007) indicated that career decision-making looks at how people make decisions and their beliefs that they can successfully achieve actions that will lead to anticipated outcomes. On the other hand, Krieshok (1998) theorized that career decision-making was not systematic and processes of decision-making are partially unconscious and not readily available.

According to Blustein (1992), one essential component in career decision-making is career exploration. Career exploration refers to the activities an individual engages in that are meant to enhance knowledge of the self and the external environment to foster progress in the development of a career (Blustein, 1992). Career exploration also involves "the appraisal of internal attributes and exploration of external options and constraints from relevant educational, vocational, and relational contexts" (Flum & Blustein, 2000; p. 381). Flum and Bluestein (2000) accentuated that the exploration of a career does not merely result in the attainment of information, but also how an individual makes sense of his or her life and career. According to Bluestein et al. (1994), career exploration was found to be related to career decision-making process in terms of manifestation of self-concept and commitment to vocation.

Another factor that can assist an individual's career decision-making is figuring out the way that he/she normally makes decisions related to career (Gati, Landman, Davidovitch, Asulin-Peretz, & Gadassi, 2010). According to these authors, the career decision-making profile of an individual focuses on reliance on others, approaches used to make career decisions, locus of control, and type of engagement when collecting information related to career (Gati et al., 2010). From this perspective, when investigating the career decision-making profile of an

individual it is crucial to become familiar with the individual's typical decision-making behavior so assistance can be provided to the unique way each person makes career decisions (Gati et al., 2010).

Another component in career decision-making is exploring the career goals of the individual. The career searching process and development of goals are critical components in career decision-making (Cox et al., 2007). Cox, Rasmussen, and Conrad (2007) stated that individuals who are actively engaged in the career decision-making process and creation of goals are more prepared for the world of work. These individuals are also more gratified and fulfilled in the career they choose (Cox et al., 2007).

Satisfaction with career path is an important part of the career decision-making process because it directly influences quality of life of individuals in the world of work (Lent & Brown, 2008). In contemporary culture, careers carry great economic and social significance; however, careers also carry psychological value related to satisfaction (Song & Park, 2005). Furthermore, de Botton (2009) maintained that the main principles for choosing a career have changed from objective to subjective values, i.e. moving from a focus on salary to a focus on feelings of achievement.

#### **Rational Models of Career Decision-Making**

Rational models of career decision-making have emerged from the literature. These models suggest "that individuals identify an optimal outcome by multiplying the probability and perceived value of different options, and selecting the option that yields the highest product" (Murtagh, Lopes, & Lyons, 2011; p.250). Gelatt (1962) extended the expected utility model to career decision-making by offering a model which was sequential, logical, and methodical. Gelatt (1962) believed that all decisions had fundamentally the same characteristics in which

there is a person who needs to make a decision and there are two or more possible outcomes to act on. The individual's decision will be made based on information known to the individual. According to Gestalt (1962), the decision made by the individual will be one of two types either a terminal decision which is final or an investigatory decision which requires additional information until it can become a final decision.

Katz (1966) proposed a rational model of career decision-making with a requirement that all possible alternatives be considered with career choices beginning with the examination of values for the individual. Katz (1966) indicated that values contain these three properties: dimension, magnitude, and importance. After these components are explored, the individual can identify several options to choose from and the final decision is made based on a statistical procedure which looks at the strength of the return for making this decision (Katz, 1966).

According to Gati and Asher (2001), both the model proposed by Gelatt and that proposed by Katz are considered the norm for stating how decisions should be made; however, problems have been identified with the career decision-making process in each. There are a variety of ways individuals fail to follow the process proposed by these models, including failing to contemplate all options and invalidly assessing the probability of future events (Kahneman, Slovic, and Tversky, 1982). It has been argued that individuals do not have the cognitive capability to quantify probability to calculate alternatives for several outcomes and finally ascertain a final career decision based on this procedure (Gati, 1986). Gati and Asher (2001) proposed a sequential elimination model which was aimed at overcoming quantification and statistical procedures by utilizing a strategy of early removal of alternatives that did not match characteristics of the desired outcome for the individual. Further, this model suggests how

decision-making can be improved by improving the cognitive processes of the individual (Gati & Asher, 2001).

## Other-Than-Rational Models of Career Decision-Making

Other models focusing on nonsequential and nonsystematic processes of decision-making have challenged rational models of career decision-making (Gelatt, 1989). Research on these other-than-rational models of career decision-making have found that systematically making decisions about career choices was not possible (Krieshok, 1998). In comparison to the models which assumed that individuals could have access to prominent self-knowledge on which to base their career decision-making, Krieshok (1998) theorized that this information was not readily available and was partially unconscious. The anti-introspective model challenges the idea that a majority of the processing completed by an individual's mind is conducted consciously, and believes that utilizing these conscious and logical career decision processes may be counterproductive in making good decisions (Krieshok, 1998). An example of these career decision-making processes is utilizing heuristic devices to decipher large amounts of information (Krieshok, 1998).

Murtagh, Lopes, and Lyons (2011) added to the framework of other-than-rational models of career decision-making by researching voluntary career change. A qualitative study was completed with eight women who had changed careers. Their research provided support for the role of emotions and the importance of self-regulation when making career decisions (Murtagh, Lopes, & Lyons, 2011). This research highlights a model that is an action-affect-cognition framework for making decisions.

## **Career Decision-Making Assessments**

There are a number of assessments used to assist psychologists, counselors, and researchers understand career decision-making (Betz, Klein, & Taylor, 1996; Gati et al., 1996; Osipow, 1987). These assessments attempt to evaluate the ways individuals decide about careers, career decision-making profiles, and how decided they are on their career choices. For example, some people are influenced by significant others to make career decisions while others are more independent in their career choice (Gati & Levin, 2014). A discussion of three different assessments used to measure career decision-making follows.

The Career Decision-Making Self-Efficacy Scale-Short Form (CDSE-SF; Betz, Klein, & Taylor, 1996) is a 25-item assessment containing five items from five different domains: accurate self-appraisal, gathering occupational information, goal selection, making plans for the future, and problem solving. The scales of this assessment are utilized to measure the self-efficacy of individuals as related to their career decision-making. The CDSE-SF is scored utilizing a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 10 indicating no confidence (1) to complete confidence (10) (Betz, Klein, & Taylor, 1996). Multiple studies have provided support for the validation and reliability of this scale (Chung, 2002; Hampton, 2005; Osipow & Gati, 1998).

The Career Decision-Making Difficulties Questionnaire (CDDQ; Gati et al., 1996) is a 44-item assessment designed to assess for career decision-making difficulties among three subscales: lack of readiness, lack of information, and inconsistent information related to the process of decision-making. There is also a score of total difficulty which is ascertained by scores on all three domains (Gati et al., 1996). The authors reported sound reliability for lack of information, inconsistent information, and total score ranging from .89 to .95 but found low

reliability for the lack of readiness scale (.63) (Gati et al., 1996) which was confirmed by Albion and Fogarty (2002).

The Career Decision Scale (CDS; Osipow, 1987) is a 19-item instrument that measures career indecision with each item rated on a 1 (not at all like me) to 4 (exactly like me) scale. Higher scores reflect greater indecision. The assessment includes two items that measure career certainty, sixteen items that measure indecision, and one item that is open-ended which allows the participant to clarify or provide additional information about his or her career decision-making (Osipow, 1987). Cumulative scores are obtained with higher scores reflecting less certainty and greater indecision (Osipow, 1987). According to Osipow (1987), Cronbach's alpha for the entire scale was in the range from .82 to .90.

In summary, by assessing the difficulties clients' experience with career decision-making, counselors gain a deeper understanding of why these individuals pursued counseling. There are a number of reasons clients sought assistance with career decision-making. These reasons include not being ready to start a career, limited information about careers to pursue, not being able to use the skill they have at work, or a combination of these factors (Gati & Levin, 2014). By using this information, counselors can have the clients focus on the reasons they cannot make a career decision on their own and find an attainable solution.

### **Career Decision-Making and College Students**

During college, students encounter an assortment of developmental changes, trials, and milestones in their early adulthood years (Rowell, Mobley, Kemer, & Giordano, 2014). A number of these challenges are related to exploration, defining, and forming goals and plans related to their career. Research supports the view that students are charged with the task of finalizing specified objectives and goals before they graduate college (Johnson, Nichols,

Buboltz, & Riedesel, 2002). In a study conducted by Johnson, Nichols, Buboltz, and Riedesel (2002), the researchers asked 209 participants enrolled in career and life planning courses how these courses impacted their career decision-making. According to the results of this study, taking these career planning courses significantly increased the students' career decision-making self-efficacy and career identity while there was a decrease in career indecision (Johnson et al., 2002).

In contrast, the task of deciding on a career is not grasped without effort or complexity. A number of difficulties related to deciding on a career have been recognized, including lack of information about self, career choices, ways of gaining information about career, and indecision about career (Gati, Krausz, & Osipow, 1996). Gati, Krausz, and Osipow (1996) found students had difficulty with preparedness for entering a career and internal/external conflicts. Further, Swain (1984) found how unresolved career planning influenced future areas including satisfaction with job, salary, relationships with others, and self-esteem.

Kelly and Hatcher (2013) explored differences between career barriers and career decision-making self-efficacy of college students. The researchers utilized 787 students at a community college enrolled in applied technology programs and college transfers (Kelly & Hatcher, 2013). The findings indicated that applied technology students had higher career decision-making self-efficacy than transfer students and college transfer students perceived more career barriers (Kelly & Hatcher, 2013). These findings also suggested that the applied technology students were older than the transfer students were and this maturity could have influenced their perceived self-efficacy (Kelly & Hatcher, 2013).

An exploration was conducted by Esters (2007) to determine the level of career indecision of college students enrolled in agriculture classes. The researcher looked at identity

diffusion, positive choice conflict, and tentative decision to explore the construct of career indecision of 310 students (Esters, 2007). Findings indicated that students in this study had moderate levels of career indecision across all three of the factors (Esters, 2007). Therefore, the results suggested students were experiencing uncertainty about their career direction, questioning how to implement their career decision, and difficulty selecting one career from a number of attractive alternatives (Esters, 2007).

There are differences in career decision-making self-efficacy, trait, anxiety, and ethnic identity for college students (Gloria & Hird, 1999). Gloria and Hird (1999) surveyed 687 students and found significant differences by race and declared or undeclared majors. Findings indicated that White students and declared students had higher career decision-making self-efficacy and lower trait anxiety than ethnic minorities in this study (Gloria & Hird, 1999). In addition, for ethnic minorities, ethnic identity was a more significant predictor of career decision-making self-efficacy and lower trait anxiety that White students (Gloria & Hird, 1999).

In a similar study, Mau (2000) investigated the cultural significance of career decision-making style and career decision-making self-efficacy. The researcher utilized both American and Taiwanese college students (Mau, 2000). Findings indicated that there are significant differences in career decision-making style and career decision-making self-efficacy among gender and culture (Mau, 2000). More specifically, Taiwanese students had lower levels of self-efficacy as compared to their American counterparts and females, regardless of nationality, were more likely than males to endorse a dependent style of decision-making (Mau, 2000).

#### **Differentiation of Self**

According to Bowlby (1988), secure attachment with the parental figure is associated with healthy psychosocial development of the individual. According to attachment theory, a

child with a secure attachment feels safe to explore their surroundings when they know their parent is available and receptive when needed (Bowlby, 1988). Further, this attachment style is connected with the individual's ability to make connections with other people and cope with stressful situations (Ketterson & Blustein, 1997). In addition, it is necessary for individuals to become autonomous from their parent to develop their own functional and productive identity (Lee & Hughey, 2001; Tokar et al., 2003).

The need for balancing appropriate attachment from an individual's parental figures is explained by differentiation of self, a concept from family system's theory. According to Bowen (1976), for each individual, there is an internal force or drive to become emotionally separate from their parents and family of origin and a force that drives them to remain connected to their family. The term differentiation of self is defined as a person's skill to function in a self-directed and autonomous way without being controlled by their family or other significant individuals in their life and, at the same time, not being emotionally cut off from these important relationships (Johnson & Waldo, 1998). Thus, a differentiated individual can create their own individual sense of self while remaining in contact with other individuals. An undifferentiated individual will remain fused or cut off from their significant relationships (Johnson & Waldo, 1998). According to Johnson and Waldo (1998), "people who are fused do not have a clear sense of self and operate from an emotionally reactive style, particularly under stress" (p. 406). They are emotionally tied to others and their thought processes are often overwhelmed by emotions (Kerr & Bowen, 1988). This is also true of individuals who are cut off from significant others, although they cope with this fusion by being reactive and dissolving significant relationships (Johnson & Waldo, 1998).

Carter and McGoldrick (1989) also supported the concept of differentiation by stating the differentiation process of an individual from their family of origin begins in childhood and becomes even more prevalent in young adulthood. The process continues when the individual is well into their thirties (Lawson, Gaushell, & Karst, 1993). This process affects her or his social, physical, and emotional health (Kerr & Bowen, 1988).

Bowen's (1978) theory of family systems was intended to be a universal theory to guide interventions in theory, but has been criticized for overvaluing stereotypically male characteristics (Ault-Riche, 1986; Luepnitz, 1988). According to Ault-Riche (1986), the definition of development is viewed as developing a separate and distinct sense of self which disregards the female experience who find themselves through their interactions with other people. Research has found that women develop a sense of who they are through their attachments to others around them (Knudson-Martin, 1994; Patterson, Sochting, & Marcia, 1992).

In contrast to Bowen's theory of differentiation of self, Josselson (1987) contends formation of identity for females is not whether or not they describe themselves in the context of relationships but how interactions are used in that process. Some women use relationships for security while others use relationships for self-validation and support (Josselson, 1987). Further, some females understand who they are by comparing themselves to others, while others do not (Josselson, 1987).

The ultimate challenge for women is becoming differentiated while trying to maintain connection to others simultaneously and eventually being able to be present with another person and feel a connection with that person despite vast differences (Knudson-Martin, 1994).

Therefore, the formation of their identity is a balance of multiple commitments and goals in all

aspects of their life (Belenky, Clinchy, Goldberger, & Tarule, 1986). Since females understand their identity through their relationships with others, deciding to whom one is attached is an important instrument for development of identity for females (Belenky et al., 1986).

According to Knudson-Martin (1994), "even though Bowen's theory utilizes interactions with others in the process of differentiation, the importance of connections to others in defining a sense of self is not well articulated. The focus on overcoming togetherness, rationality, and autonomy in Bowen's theory resulted in a masculine model of relationships composed of separate, autonomous selves which tended to obscure the value of connections" (p. 35). Thus, to improve Bowen's model of differentiation, there should be a focus on connectedness to others in defining one's self to include the feminine perspective (Knudson-Martin, 1994).

# **Components of Differentiation of Self**

According to Kerr and Bowen (1988), differentiation of self is composed of four patterns of emotion which include emotional reactivity, emotional cutoff, fusion with others, and I-position. A central tenant of being differentiated from others is the level of the individual's emotional reactivity (Bowen, 1978). Bowen viewed emotional reactivity as the ability of the individual to separate thoughts from feelings. A differentiated individual is not overwhelmed by their emotions at the expense of their thoughts. On the other hand, an undifferentiated individual is overwhelmed by their emotions and unable to remain calm in stressful situations. According to Kerr and Bowen, a differentiated person directed internally can see themselves as a separate person rather than experiencing emotional reactivity to external activities and others' emotions.

Another tenant of being differentiated from others is the level of the individual's emotional cutoff (Bowen, 1978). Spencer and Brown (2007) define emotional cutoff as "a way of disagreeing with others by removing oneself psychologically or physically" (p. 258). Further,

Kerr and Bowen (1988) explain emotional cutoff as an individual's response to coping with an anxiety filled system by separating from it. These individual responses to intense emotions include being insubordinate and isolating themselves physically and emotionally from the system (Kott, 2014). An individual emotionally cutoff from others feels vulnerable in intimate relationships and threatened to expose their emotions to others (Kerr & Bowen, 1988). Due to this vulnerability, individuals experience fears of engulfment and exhibit defensive actions, including distancing themselves from others and denying emotions. On the other hand, individuals who are not emotionally cutoff have the ability to express their emotions to others and gain intimacy with others by remaining open.

An additional tenant of differentiation of self is an individual's level of fusion with others (Bowen, 1978). Fusion is the incapability of upholding a personal opinion that is different when in the presence of others and usually displayed by strong obedience (Spencer & Brown, 2007). Individuals with higher levels of fusion continue to be emotionally trapped in the dominant beliefs instilled in their families of origin (Kerr & Bowen, 1988). These individuals have few opinions of their own and seek acceptance and approval from others above any other objective (Kerr & Bowen, 1988). In contrast, people with lower levels of fusion can form their own beliefs and separate from their family of origin without needing approval from others.

The final tenant for being differentiated with others is taking the I-position (Bowen, 1978). The I-position is defined as the individual having a clear sense of self and the capability to follow to his or her beliefs when pressured to act in opposition to their beliefs (Kerr & Bowen, 1988). Individuals with a high level of differentiation have the ability to take an I-position with others while maintaining a clearly defined sense of self (Bowen, 1978). Further, they are able to evaluate their beliefs despite pressured from others to behave differently.

## **Differentiation of Self and Career Development**

Some research indicates a relationship between differentiation of self and career development (Johnson et al., 2014). There is some evidence that a balance of physiological security and healthy levels of attachment to the caregiver may aid career development and decision-making (Lee & Hughey, 2001; Rainey & Borders, 1997). Lease and Dahlbeck (2009) found that if college students perceived that they had a high quality relationship with their mothers, it would foster their independence. This positive relationship would lead to elevated degrees of career decision self-efficacy (Lease & Dahlbeck, 2009). This finding supports a positive correlation between mothers who facilitated their student's college independence and high levels of self-efficacy (Lease & Dahlbeck, 2009).

According to Johnson et al. (2014), differentiation of self was found to have an effect on the career development of college students. In a study conducted with 231 college students using the Differentiation of Self Inventory (Skowron & Friedlander, 1998), My Vocational Situation (Holland, Daiger, & Power, 1980), and the Career Decision Profile (Jones & Lohmann, 1998), results indicated that higher levels of differentiation of self predicted higher levels of vocational identity and higher levels of career decidedness (Johnson et al., 2014). This means that differentiation predicted healthy career development which includes decidedness, comfort, and knowledge of career.

Nauta and Kahn (2007) investigated the relationships among the reliability and variation of their career interests, status of identity, and self-efficacy of career decision-making of 111 students in college. The researchers found that status of identity is related to variation of interests and making career decisions (Nauta & Kahn, 2007). Thus, the researchers found that an

individual with an advanced identity status would be more decided in their career and be more differentiated interests than others.

## **Proactive Personality**

Proactive personality is defined as a temperament toward changing an individual's surroundings or environment (Bateman & Crant, 1993). According to Bateman and Crant (1993), the exemplar of an individual with a proactive personality is an individual who is not controlled by situational forces and who can instill environmental change. The proactive individual actively seeks opportunities to show initiative and take action to bring about change. According to Leavitt (1988), these individuals are pathfinders who can identify and solve problems. They take initiative to make an impression on the world around them.

Individuals with a high proactive personality seek to improve their present situation by identifying opportunities and taking action to until meaningful changes happen (Crant, 2000). In contrast, people who are less proactive passively adapt to their surroundings and do not identify opportunities to take action (Zhang, Wang, & Shi, 2012). They also display minimal initiative and rely on others to bring about change (Bateman & Crant, 1993).

The proactive aspect of behavior is engrained in an individual's need to influence and control their environment (White, 1959). Buss (1987) asserts that individuals are not passive receivers of environmental cues but are actively engaged with their surroundings. Researchers consider the interaction process to be dynamic and the relationship between the person and the environment is categorized by reciprocal causal links (Magnusson and Endler, 1977). Therefore, as proposed by Bandura (1986), the person, environment, and behaviors constantly influence one another.

Researchers have identified the types of behaviors in which proactive individuals engage (Bateman and Crant 1993). According to Parker and Collins (2010), proactive behaviors include the individual initiating and taking control to bring future oriented change. These proactive behaviors are designed to improve the relationship between the individual and the environment by changing the person or the environment to fit a situation best suited for the individual (Parker & Collins, 2010). Ashford and Black (1996) identified several proactive behaviors which included seeking information, seeking feedback, socializing with others, networking, relationship building, and positive framing.

Research has focused on what individuals with proactive personality do, but little research has focused on why they do it (Thompson, 2005). According to Morrison (1994), one mediating factor is perceived role breadth, which is the degree to which people consider certain activities to be within their role at work. Further, Coyle-Shapiro, Kessler, and Purcell (2004) found that perceived role breadth is related positively with performing actual job duties.

Presently, most of the research of proactive personality has fixated on the positive and career-enhancing benefits of having this disposition (Seibert et al., 1999). Meta analyses have confirmed that people higher in proactive personality have more success in terms of subjective and objective career outcomes (Fuller and Marler 2009). However, Erdogan and Bauer (2005) found that proactive personality was positively associated with job and career satisfaction only for people who were highly matched with the organization's environment. Detrimental effects of proactive personality have been neglected in the literature, but two recent empirical studies have showed that proactive personality can lead to poorer work performance when the individual has low situational judgment effectiveness (Chan, 2006) and image cost as a potential downside of proactivity (De Stobbeleir, Ashford, & de Luque, 2010).

Chan (2006) conducted a study to find how proactive personality relates to work performance. The researcher utilized a sample of 139 employees from a rehabilitation agency and administered measures of proactive personality, situation judgment effectiveness at work, and procedural justice perception (Chan, 2006). Findings indicated proactive personality positively predicted work perceptions and work outcomes among participants with higher levels of situational judgment effectiveness and a negative association for those with low situational judgment effectiveness (Chan, 2006). Thus, having a more proactive personality could be adaptive or maladaptive, depending on an individual's level of situational judgment effectiveness.

De Stobbeleir, Ashford, and de Luque (2010) investigated image cost as a potential disadvantage of proactivity. These researchers utilized attribution theory to examine how 319 current and former MBA students construct subjective evaluations of feedback seeking behavior (De Stobbeleir et al., 2010). The findings suggest that general personality characteristics of an individual serve as a sign that shapes managers' appraisals of the individual's proactivity (De Stobbeleir et al., 2010). Therefore, an individual's performance history shapes how they are evaluated.

### **Proactive Personality and Career Development**

There is a link between a proactive personality trait and career variables such as career success and career initiative (Fuller & Marler, 2009). According to a meta-analysis conducted by Fuller and Marler (2009), individuals with a proactive personality are more likely to experience greater career success and job satisfaction than individuals who are more passive.

In a study conducted by Hsieh and Huang (2014), the researchers examined a relationship between socioeconomic status of the family and proactive personality as it related to career

decision self-efficacy. The researchers utilized a sample of 336 Taiwanese college students and found that proactive personality and socioeconomic status were positively related to career decision self-efficacy (Hsieh and Huang, 2014). According to Hsieh and Huang, the higher the socioeconomic status and proactive personality of an individual, the stronger their belief would be that they could complete tasks important for career decision-making.

Hou, Wu, and Liu (2014) studied the effect of career decision-making self-efficacy and proactive personality on career adaptability while being under employment pressure. The researchers utilized 810 Chinese graduate students and participants completed assessments related to these measures (Hou, Wu, & Liu, 2014). The results revealed participants with higher levels of proactive personality were more likely to be influenced by the negative effects of employment pressure when establishing career decision-making self-efficacy than those with lower levels of proactive personality (Hou et al., 2014).

# **Summary**

Given the importance of career and work in an individual's life, it is prudent to understand as fully as possible various characteristics that can influence the career development process. Understanding the impact of differentiation of self and proactivity may lay the groundwork for interventions with secondary and post-secondary students as well as those already in the workforce.

#### CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY

# **Purpose of Study**

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between differentiation of self, proactive personality, and career decidedness. The results of this study add to the literature concerning career development.

### **Research Questions**

The following questions were used in this investigation:

- 1. To what extent does proactive personality predict career indecision?
- 2. To what extent does differentiation of self predict career indecision?
- 3. To what extent do proactive personality and differentiation of self predict career indecision?

# Sample

The sample consisted of college students enrolled in undergraduate level courses at a Hispanic serving institution in South Texas. All participants provided information about age, sex, ethnicity, major, and year in college.

One hundred sixty four students enrolled as full-time or part-time participated in the study. This sample included 127 females (77%) and 37 males (23%). In addition, the sample was identified by year in college which was represented by 45 seniors (27%), 38 juniors (23%), 21 sophomores (13%), and 60 freshman (37%). Further, participants were ages 17 to 58 with an average age of 21. Ethnicity of the sample included 76 Latino/Hispanic (46%), 14 Black/African American (Non-Hispanic) (9%), 61 Caucasian/White (37%), 5 Asian or Pacific Islander (3%), 1 Native American (1%), and 7 participants classified as Other (4%). The participants were selected conveniently since they were college students enrolled at a university. Large

undergraduate courses in the College of Liberal Arts were identified to recruit participants for the current study. The courses were selected from a pool of classes taught by instructors in the College of Liberal Arts.

#### Measures

All participants were given a packet that included a demographic form (see Appendix A), Proactive Personality Scale (Seibert et al. 1999; see Appendix B), Differentiation of Self Inventory (Skowron and Friedlander, 1998; see Appendix C), Career Decision Scale (CDS; Osipow, 1987), and information regarding IRB approval (see Appendix D). The demographic form focused on students' sex, year in college, age, and ethnicity.

Proactive personality was measured using a shortened version of Bateman and Crant's (1993) original Proactive Personality Scale (PPS), which contains ten items as compared to the original scale that had seventeen items (Seibert et al., 1999). Seibert et al. (1999) created the shortened version by selecting ten items with the highest average factor loadings with Cronbach's alpha at .86. Two sample items are "If I see something I don't like, I fix it" and "I can spot a good opportunity long before others can." Individuals responding to the assessment indicated their agreement with each statement on a 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). The higher the total average score of the ten items on this measure, the more proactive the participant is. In contrast, the lower the score, the less proactive the participant is.

The creation of the shortened version of Bateman and Crant's (1993) original Proactive Personality Scale (PPS) (Seibert et al., 1999) was established using 181 MBA and undergraduate students who completed the original 17-item PPS scale. The shortened version was created by selecting the 10 items with the highest average factor loadings from the original scale (Seibert et

al., 1999). The correlation between the original scale and the shortened version was .96, and deleting the seven items had minimal effect on the reliability of the shortened scale (original 17-items  $\alpha = .88$  and 10-items  $\alpha = .86$ ) (Seibert et al., 1999).

Research by Baba, Tourigny, Wang, and Liu (2009) demonstrated the reliability and validity of the Proactive Personality Scale when used with a Chinese sample. The researchers found Cronbach's alpha to be .87 (Baba et al., 2009). Hou, Wu, and Liu (2014) found  $\alpha$  = .80 in a study regarding proactive personality and decision-making self-efficacy on career adaptability among Chinese graduate students. Further support for the reliability of this measure was found by Hsieh and Huang (2014) with a Cronbach's alpha of .76 in a study about the effects of socioeconomic status and proactive personality on career decision self-efficacy.

In addition, Bateman and Crant (1993) found discriminant validity for the original proactive scale with neuroticism, openness, agreeableness, intelligence, private self-consciousness, locus of control, age, sex, and years of work experience. Criterion validity was established by proactive personality being positively related to extracurricular activities aimed at constructive change, personal achievements reflecting change, and peer nominations of transformational leadership with all variables being significant at p < 0.05 (Bateman & Crant, 1993).

The Differentiation of Self Inventory (DSI) (Skowron and Friedlander, 1998) has 43 items which are rated on a 6-point scale generating a total differentiation score and four subscale scores. By using a factor analysis, the authors of this instrument were able to support the four subscales as being distinct factors of the single construct differentiation of self. The first subscale is Emotional Reactivity which relates to how an individual responds to external stimuli with emotional lability, flooding, or hypersensitivity (Skowron & Friedlander, 1998). Two

sample items are "I feel things more intensely than others" and "When someone close to me disappoints me, I withdraw from him or her for a time." The second subscale is I Position which reflects a clearly defined sense of self and ability to adhere to one's beliefs despite opposing action (Skowron & Friedlander, 1998). Two sample items are "I tend to remain pretty calm even under stress" and "I tend to feel pretty stable under stress." The third subscale is Emotional Cutoff and reflects the individual's level of being threatened by intimacy and feeling vulnerable in relationships with others (Skowron & Frieldander, 1998). Two sample items are "Our relationship might be better if my spouse or partner would give me the space I need" and "I have difficulty expressing my feelings to people I care for." The fourth subscale is Fusion with Others which measures emotional over involvement with others (Skowron & Friedlander, 1998). Two sample items are "I worry about people close to me getting sick, hurt, or upset" and "It's important for me to keep in touch with my parents regularly." Individuals who have elevated scores on the DSI are more differentiated which means they are less fused with others, are less emotionally cutoff from others, are less emotionally reactive, and have a clearly defined sense of self.

Previous research by Skowron and Friedlander (1998) provided initial information about the psychometric properties of the Differentiation of Self Inventory based on three different studies. The researchers utilized more than 600 participants with different sexes and ethnicities within these three studies. Using internal consistency coefficients, the results of the study supported moderate to high reliability for the measure with regards to the total score and four subscales. Cronbach's alpha was .88 for the total score, .88 for Emotional Reactivity, .79 for Emotional Cutoff, .70 for Fusion With Others, and .85 for I Position (Skowron & Friedlander, 1998). In a study by Johnson, Schamuhn, Nelson, and Buboltz Jr. (2014), the alpha coefficients

for the were: total score = .75, Emotional Reactivity = .67, Emotional Cutoff = .83, Fusion With Others = .50, and I Position = .75.

Support for the validity of the Differentiation of Self Inventory was found by the researchers through construct validity of the four subscales and various tenants of Bowen's theory (Skworon & Frieldander, 1998). Lack of differentiation was equated with chronic anxiety, and the moderate, significant intercorrelations of the scales support their validity based on theory (Skowron & Frieldander, 1998). In addition, each of the subscales was found to be related but not identical, which supports the validity of each subscale to be analyzed individually (Skowron & Friedlander, 1998).

The Career Decision Scale (CDS; Osipow, 1987) is a 19-item instrument that measures career indecision with each item rated on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (not at all like me) to 4 (exactly like me). Higher scores reflect greater indecision. The assessment includes two items that measure career certainty, sixteen items that measure indecision, and one item that is openended which allows the participant to clarify or provide additional information about his or her career decision-making (Osipow, 1987). Two sample items measuring indecision are "Several careers have equal appeal to me. I'm having a difficult time deciding among them" and "I know I will have to go to work eventually, but none of the careers I know about appeal to me."

Cumulative scores were obtained with the sixteen items measuring indecision in which higher scores reflected less certainty and greater indecision (Osipow, 1987).

The norm group for the CDS includes all levels of undergraduate and high school students with a sample size larger than 700 participants (Osipow, 1987). This includes 268 undecided college freshmen, over 100 college students at all levels, and over 350 high school students which were equally represented by year and sex (Osipow, 1987). Osipow (1987) found

total CDS scores among the participants did not differ by sex, year in school, age, or school of enrollment.

Osipow (1987) described test–retest reliabilities of the Career Decision Scale ranging from .82 to .90. White and Tracey (2011) found Cronbach's alpha to be .68 in a study researching the relationship between authenticity and career. Further, Johnson, Nichols, Buboltz Jr., and Riedesel (2002) determined a reliability coefficient of .87 for this scale when they assessed a holistic trait and factor approach to career development of college students.

Validity was proven by the fact that a number of studies show more decidedness after being exposed to career planning interventions (Osipow, 1987). Scores on the CDS have also been found to be related to constructs such as locus of control, career maturity, grade level, ability, anxiety level, fear of success, sex, and other measures of career decidedness (Osipow, 1987).

#### **Procedures**

The university was selected based on several factors, including accessibility and convenience. After permission was granted by the IRB, professors in the College of Liberal Arts were contacted, and permission was granted to solicit students' participation in this study. After obtaining permission from the professors, the researcher met with students in the approved classes. At this point, students were informed that participation was voluntary and anonymous, the study was explained to them, and students were provided the opportunity to ask questions. Informed consent was obtained from all of the students who participated in this study, which affirmed their willingness to participate without obtaining their name or other identifying information. Finally, all of the students were given a sealed envelope that included a (a) demographic form, (b) Proactive Personality Scale, (c) Differentiation of Self Inventory, and (d)

Career Decision Scale. The researcher explained the contents and asked that students willing to participate in the study review the information sheet included in the packet and proceed to completing the instruments. Those who did not participate sat quietly while those who participated completed the instruments. The researcher left the classroom while those who agreed to participate completed the protocol. Once protocols were completed, the researcher returned to the classroom and collected all packets. All students were thanked for their participation. The researcher left the class, moved to a secure area, and separated any protocols not completed. Envelopes are stored inside a locked cabinet in the researcher's home in a locked closet. The demographic questionnaire and three assessments required less than 20 minutes to complete.

## **Research Design**

A correlation design was used to predict criterion variables with knowledge of other variables (Gay & Airasian, 2011). According to Gay and Airasian (2011), the reason for using a correlational study is to find the relationships between variables or to use these relationships to make further predictions. While a traditional correlational design describes the relationship between two variables, a multiple regression is used describe the relationship among more than two variables (Heppner, Wampold, & Kivlighan, 2008). A multiple regression is "a statistical method for studying the separate and collective contributions of one or more predictor variables to the variation of a dependent variable" (Heppner et al., 2008; p. 247). In this current study, I sought to investigate the extent to which proactive personality and differentiation of self predict career decidedness.

According to Heppner et al. (2008), there are three basic methods for entering the predictor variables when conducting a multiple regression: simultaneous, stepwise, and

hierarchical regression. A simultaneous regression was used for this study which means all of the predictor variables were entered concurrently (Heppner at al., 2008). This type of regression is utilized when there is no foundation for entering the variables in a certain order and the researcher wants to find how each predictor variable contributes to predicting the criterion variable (Heppner et al., 2008). Thus, when I entered proactive personality and differentiation of self in the regression equation, there was no order to follow.

When conducting a multiple regression, one of the biggest limitations is that the results of the analysis is based on correlational data and cannot delineate causation (Heppner et al., 2008). The results are merely relational and predictive rather than determining causation (Heppner et al., 2008). Therefore, the results of this study will predict the relationship between career decidedness and the predictor variables of proactive personality and differentiation of self.

# **Data Analysis**

Data were coded and entered into the computer by the researcher using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, Version 22. This statistical software was used for the purpose of data entry and analysis. Descriptive statistics including mean, standard deviation, and sample size were used to summarize and organize the data. The missing data were replaced with mean calculation. A calculation of the means using available data was used to estimate the missing values.

The method of data analysis used for this study was a multiple regression. Multiple regression is a statistical tool used to understand the relationship between two or more variables (Dimitrov, 2009). Further, one dependent variable is predicted from two or more independent variables (Dimitrov, 2009). A multiple regression was the best method of statistical analysis given the research questions and the number of variables involved to predict the type of

relationship between differentiation of self, proactive personality, and career decision-making.

The researcher wanted to learn more about this relationship between the predictor variables

(proactive personality and differentiation of self) and the criterion variable (career decidedness).

There are two sets of assumptions for when conducting a multiple regression. The first set of assumptions is about the raw score variables (Mertler & Vannatta, 2013). These assumptions include the independent variables are fixed and the same values would need to be used if the study was replicated, the independent variables are measured without error, and the relationship between the independent variables and the dependent variable is linear (Mertler & Vannatta, 2013). The second set of assumptions is about the residuals or prediction errors that are the scores not accounted for during the analysis (Mertler & Vannatta, 2013). These assumptions include the mean of the residuals for each observation on the dependent variable over multiple replications is zero and errors associated with any observation on the dependent variable are not correlated with errors associated with any other observation on the dependent variable. Further, the errors are not correlated with the independent variables, the errors are normally distributed, and homoscedasticity of the variance of the residuals are assumed (Mertler & Vannatta, 2013).

To ensure that the data for this study met the assumptions of a multiple regression, I took an approach that utilized routine pre-analysis data-screening procedures (Mertler & Vannatta, 2013). This included examining linearity through examination of the bivariate scatterplots, examining normality through the values for skewness, kurtosis, and Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistics (Merlatta & Vanatta, 2013). Finally, homoscedasticity was examined by interpreting the test results of Box's test (Merlatta & Vannatta, 2013).

An a priori power analysis was conducted utilizing G\*Power 3.1 statistical power analysis program (Faul, et al., 2009) to identify the necessary sample size for a multiple regression. With a small effect size of  $f^2 = .15$ , (Cohen, 1988), an alpha level of .05, and adequate power (1- $\beta$  = .95; Cohen, 1988), a sample size of 146 was considered necessary to detect a moderate effect of the predictor variables for estimating career indecision. Given the sample of 164 participants in this study, the results of this analysis are robust enough to make predictive inferences about the relationships between predictor and criterion variables.

#### **CHAPTER IV: RESULTS**

### Introduction

In this chapter, I discuss this study's results based on quantitative analysis. The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between proactive personality, differentiation of self, and career indecision. A multiple regression analysis was conducted to explore the three research questions:

- 1. To what extent does proactive personality predict career indecision?
- 2. To what extent does differentiation of self predict career indecision?
- 3. To what extent do proactive personality and differentiation of self predict career indecision?

# **Demographics**

One hundred sixty four students enrolled as full-time or part-time students participated in the study. This sample included 127 females (77%) and 37 males (23%). In addition, the sample was identified by year in college which was represented by 45 seniors (27%), 38 juniors (23%), 21 sophomores (13%), and 60 freshman (37%). Further, participants were ages 17 to 58 with an average age of 21. Ethnicity of the sample included 76 Latino/Hispanic (46%), 14 Black/African American (Non-Hispanic) (9%), 61 Caucasian/White (37%), 5 Asian or Pacific Islander (3%), 1 Native American (1%), and 7 participants classified as Other (4%). See Table 1 for descriptive statistics of these demographics.

Table 1.

Descriptive Statistics for Participant Demographics

Demographic Variables		N	Percentage
Gender	Female	127	77%
	Male	37	23%
		164	100%
Ethnicity	Latino/Hispanic	76	46%
	Caucasian/White	61	37%
	Black/African American	14	9%
	Asian/Pacific Islander	5	3%
	Native American	1	1%
	Other	7	4%
		164	100%
Year in College	Senior	45	27%
	Junior	38	23%
	Sophomore	21	13%
	Freshman	60	37%
		164	100%

## **Data Analysis**

Relationships between the predictor and criterion variables were modeled using a simultaneous multiple regression model to evaluate the research questions. A multiple regression analysis using block entry was conducted on career indecision based on proactive personality and differentiation of self. An alpha level of .05 was utilized during all analyses and missing data was replaced by mean calculation. All outliers were included in the analysis. Descriptive statistics are reported in Table 2 which include mean, standard deviation (SD), and population size (N) of each of the variables.

Table 2.

Descriptive Statistics

Variable	Mean	SD	N
Career Indecision	1.86	.60	164
Proactive Personality	5.36	.88	164
Emotional Reactivity	3.56	.78	164
I Position	4.43	.77	164
Emotional Cutoff	4.19	.76	164
Fusion with Others	2.99	.72	164

The Pearson correlations among all variables with significant interactions noted are included in Table 3. An alpha level of .05 was utilized during analysis. Results indicate a significant negative relationship between career indecision and proactive personality, (r = -0.22, p < .01), career indecision and emotional reactivity (r = -0.32, p < .01), career indecision and I-position (r = -0.21, p < .01), career indecision and emotional cutoff (r = -0.18, p < .05), and career indecision and fusion with others (r = -0.21, p < .01). Findings indicate a significant

positive relationship between proactive personality and I-position (r = 0.52, p < 0.01), emotional reactivity and I-position (r = 0.49, p < .01), emotional reactivity and emotional cutoff (r = 0.25, p < .01), emotional reactivity and fusion with others (r = 0.25, p < .01), and emotional cutoff and I-position (r = 0.19, p < .05). There was also a significant negative relationship between emotional cutoff and fusion with others (r = -0.16, p < .05).

Table 3.

Pearson Correlations

Variable	Career Indecision	Proactive Personality	Emotional Reactivity	I Position	Emotional Cutoff	Fusion with Others
Career Indecision		-0.22**	-0.32**	-0.21**	-0.18*	-0.21**
Proactive Personality			0.1	0.52**	0.03	-0.1
Emotional Reactivity				0.49**	0.25**	0.25**
I Position					0.19*	0.11
Emotional Cutoff						-0.16*
Fusion with Others						

<sup>\* =</sup> significant at the .05 level

<sup>\*\* =</sup> Significant at the .01 level

A summary of variables predicting career indecision are in Table 4. This table includes the nonstandardized regression coefficients (B), the standard error of B (SE B), the beta coefficient ( $\beta$ ), the squared semiparital correlation coefficient ( $sr^2$ ), and the sum of the squared correlations between each predictor variable to the criterion variable ( $R^2$ ).

Table 4.

Summary of Variables Predicting Career Indecision

Variable	В	SE B	β	t	$sr^2$	F	$R^2$
Career Indecision						7.93	.20
Proactive Personality	19	.06	28	3.19**	.05		
Emotional Reactivity	19	.07	25	-2.83**	.04		
I Position	.06	.08	.07	.716	< .01		
Emotional Cutoff	13	.06	16	-2.09*	.02		
Fusion with Others	17	.06	20	-2.60**	.03		

<sup>\* =</sup> significant at the .05 level

Career indecision scores and standardized residuals were normally distributed. Career indecision had a skewness of .607 (*SE*=.190) and kurtosis of -.699 (*SE*=.377). Scatterplots were analyzed, and no curvilinear relationships between the criterion variable and the predictor variables or heteroscedascity were evident. There was no evidence of multicollinearity (see Table 5).

<sup>\*\* =</sup> significant at the .01 level

Table 5.

Collinearity Statistics

Variable	Tolerance	VIF
Proactive Personality	0.68	1.48
Emotional Reactivity	0.66	1.51
I Position	0.52	1.92
Emotional Cutoff	0.87	1.15
Fusion with Others	0.86	1.16

#### **Measures**

Reliability of the present sample for scores on the shortened version of Bateman and Crant's Proactive Personality Scale (1993) were measured using Cronbach's alpha. Scores on this scale had a reliability coefficient of .89. Additionally, reliability of the scores on the total score for Differentiation of Self (DSI) by Skowron and Friedlander (1998) were measured using Cronbach's alpha which was .78 for this sample. For each of the individual subscales of differentiation of self using Cronbach's alpha the reliability coefficients were as follows:

Emotional Reactivity = .65, I Position = .77, Emotional Cutoff = .70, and Fusion with Others = .51. Finally, scores on the Career Decision Scale (CDS; Osipow, 1987) were measured using Cronbach's Alpha and had a reliability coefficient of .82.

## **Analysis**

Research Question 1: To what extent does proactive personality predict career indecision?

Proactive personality was a statistically significant predictor of career indecision (see Table 4) uniquely accounting for approximately 5% of the variance. Nearly 35% of the predicted model was accounted for by proactive personality, rs = -.59. When the variables

measuring differentiation of self were controlled for, the relationship between proactive personality and career indecision revealed the following partial correlation, r = -.180, p = .021. Therefore, individuals who have lower levels of proactive personality are more likely to have higher levels of career indecision.

Research Question 2: To what extent does differentiation of self predict career indecision?

Differentiation of self was a statistically significant predictor of career indecision (see Table 4) uniquely accounting for approximately 10% of the variance. Nearly 84% of the predicted model was accounted for by differentiation of self, rs = -.92. When proactive personality was controlled for, the relationship between differentiation of self and career indecision revealed the following partial correlation, r = -.346, p < .001. Therefore, individuals who are less differentiated from others are likely to have higher levels of career indecision *Research Question 3: To what extent do proactive personality and differentiation of self predict career indecision?* 

The regression analysis yielded a statistically significant relationship between career indecision, proactive personality, and differentiation of self, F (5, 158) = 7.93, p < .001. A moderate effect size was noted with approximately twenty percent of the variance accounted for in the model,  $R^2$  = .20 (see Table 4). Within the model, proactive personality was a significant predictor of career indecision ( $\beta$  = -.19, p < .01,  $sr^2$  = .05) with a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). Emotional reactivity was negatively correlated with scores related to career indecision ( $\beta$  = -.19, p < .01,  $sr^2$  = .04), as well as emotional cutoff ( $\beta$  = -.13, p < .05,  $sr^2$  = .02), both with small effect sizes. Thus, an individual with a low level of emotional reactivity and emotional cutoff is going to be more decided in their career. Among the two variables fusion with others and I position, fusion with others was negatively correlated with scores related to career

indecision ( $\beta$  = -.17, p = .06,  $sr^2$  = .03), indicative of a small effect size, while I position was not significantly related ( $\beta$  = .06, p = .48,  $sr^2$  < .01).

#### CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

Today, individuals live in a world of increasing modernization which has led to a rise in the number of occupational paths, specializations, trainings, and job types (Gati & Levin, 2014). Given the importance of career and work in an individual's life, it is prudent to understand as fully as possible various characteristics that can influence the career development process. Understanding the impact of differentiation of self and proactivity may lay the groundwork for interventions with secondary and post-secondary students as well as those already in the workforce. The primary purpose of this multiple regression study was to find how differentiation of self and proactive personality predict career decidedness. The review of the literature focused on the career decision-making process, differentiation of self, and proactive personality.

The results of this study indicated that there is a significant and negative relationship between proactive personality and career indecision. These findings suggest that college students who are more proactive tend to display initiative to resolve problems related to career and are opportunistic to advance their current circumstances when deciding on a career. Overall, students may feel confident and be more active during the career decision-making process when compared to less proactive others. These findings are consistent with and support literature that assumes an individual's personality traits affect how self-efficacy develops (Hsieh & Huang, 2014; Jin, Watkins, & Yuen, 2009; Rogers, Creed, & Glendon, 2008; Wang, Jome, Haase, & Bruch, 2006).

The findings of this study suggest that a college students' overall identity is related to career decision-making. This is supported by previous research by Blustein (1992), Lucas (1997), and Schmitt-Rodermund and Vondracek (1999) which indicated the process of making a

career decision is related to the process college students use to commit to a holistic identity.

Thus, the same procedures used to decide on a career are used to discover their identity and gain a deeper understanding of self.

The four components of differentiation of self seem to affect career decision-making of college students. The results of this study suggest high levels of emotional cutoff predict high levels of career indecision. Thus, career development is negatively affected by emotional cutoff. This finding supports previous research that suggests separation from others can lead to unfavorable career decision-making for young adults (Downing & Nauta, 2010; Hartung, Lewis, May, & Niles, 2002; Lee & Hughey, 2001).

Another component of differentiation is emotional reactivity. In this study, the results indicated higher levels of emotional reactivity predicted higher levels of career indecision. The level of emotional reactivity associated with the process of separation may have a major impact on the career development process. These findings support Bowen's (1976) contention that individuals with high emotional reactivity are led by their emotions and place less emphasis on intellectual processes. Therefore, an individual who is emotionally reactive will likely have poor career decision-making skills. These results also support findings by Johnson et al. (2014) which indicated that higher levels of emotional reactivity predicted less difficulty making career decisions and higher levels of vocational identity.

A third component of differentiation of self is fusion with others. Another finding from this study is that an individual with high levels of fusion is likely to have high levels of career indecision. This suggests the individual is more dependent on others to make career related decisions. This is similar to Kerr and Bowen's (1998) ideas which assert that individuals who are highly fused with others have few opinions of their own and seek approval from others rather

than intrinsic values. These results also support findings by Johnson et al. (2014) which indicated higher levels of fusion predicted lower levels of career decidedness.

There were no significant findings related to I-position but there was a negative relationship with career indecision. The findings are similar to those of Johnson et al. (2014), which indicated higher levels of I-position significantly predicted higher levels of career decidedness. Results suggest that college students who have an identity set apart from others will be more likely to be decided in their career. This means individuals who take the I-position are more engaged in the career decision-making process and less focused on opinions from others.

A unique finding of this study is that college students who are more proactive demonstrated higher levels of differentiation. This means that highly differentiated individuals are more proactive in their behaviors. Results indicated that these young adults are not likely to be controlled by situational and social forces to complete a task which benefits them and/or others.

Another unique finding is that differentiation of self and proactive personality predicted career decision-making of college students in this study. This means that young adults who are differentiated from others and proactive are more likely to be decided on their career. In addition, the opposite may be true; individuals who are less differentiated and proactive may be less decided on their career.

#### Limitations

The present study contributes to the empirical literature on career development; however, the findings from this study may have been impacted by certain limitations and therefore may

obstruct the generalizability of the results. The limitations associated with multiple regression analysis generally relate to obtaining information and the sample utilized in the investigation.

A limitation to the study is that the multiple regression design does not indicate a causal relationship. The author can discuss relationships among the variables but cannot assume that variables are causal. In addition, there is a possibility that individuals who chose to participate may be different in meaningful ways from those participants who chose not to participate. Thus, the findings cannot be generalized to other groups that do not match the sample's characteristics.

The second limitation of this study is that all measures were self-reported by the respondent. Thus, the researcher had to rely on the honest and candid responses provided by the subjects. A number of factors when completing the assessment including motivation to begin their scheduled class, interest in the research topic, pressure to participate, and environmental factors could have influenced the respondents.

A third limitation is that the sample collection is restricted to students at one university; therefore, the cross-cultural generalizability of the results may be a concern. The majority of the students were female (77%) and enrolled in undergraduate classes in the College of Liberal Arts. The demographic group represented in this study is not consistent with the national norms. The demographic makeup of the sample and instrumentation used in this study limit the generalizability of ethnic differences. Those in the norming samples used in the development of the Proactive Personality Scale, Differentiation of Self Inventory, and Career Decision Scale largely consisted of Caucasians/Anglo Americans, while the sample of this study was 46% Latino/Hispanic.

A fourth limitation is the use of convenient sampling in this study. This technique of sampling is less effective as compared to random sampling because participants are chosen due

to convenience and accessibility for the researcher. Since convenience sampling was utilized, there may be a bias in sampling and the participants used may not be representative of the population. By utilizing a convenience sample, the results of this study may be skewed.

A fifth limitation in this study is the focus on the college students. As noted by Johnson et al. (2014) in their research concerning differentiation and career decision-making abilities of college students, a demographic of college students is not representative of all young adults struggling with career choice, the developmental task of differentiation, and being proactive. The college student population is an important demographic but not the only one to consider.

## **Implications**

The findings from this study have implications for counselors who work directly with college students. The results of this study suggest that the relationship the individual has with their family affects career development. This offers a rationale for counselors to explore the dynamics of the family when exploring career decision-making with college students. As recommended by Brown and Brooks (1991), the counselor could use genograms and lifelines to generate discussions with clients about family dynamics.

A second implication for counselors is that the positive relationship found between proactive personality and career decidedness suggests that counselors can assist college students' career decision-making by encouraging them engage in behaviors that are more proactive. In line with this assertion, Kirby, Kirby, and Lewis (2002) indicated that an individuals' proactivity does not remain stable throughout the lifespan and can be amplified with trainings and interventions. Thus, it might be useful for career counselors to develop interventions related to career decision-making to increase college students' levels of proactivity.

In this study, having a high level of differentiation of self was significantly and positively correlated with high levels of career decision-making. This finding emphasizes the importance of helping clients construct a sense of self and identity that is distinct from their family of origin. As reported by Jenkins, Buboltz, Schwartz, and Johnson (2005), for clients struggling with building a clearly defined identity, the emphasis of counseling could be assisting them with creating a sense of self that is based on intrinsic motivation and not extrinsic factors. As discussed by McGoldrick and Carter (2001), this could include utilizing counseling strategies with clients to examine how they affect their family dynamics.

The findings suggest that being decided on a career is negatively related to emotional cutoff. Counselors need to be more aware of how being emotionally cut off from others negatively affects the career decision-making process. As mentioned by Johnson and Waldo (1998), when counseling clients, the counselor needs to help the client with any unresolved emotions that are aroused due to cutting off relationships with significant others. Further, before focusing on career decision-making, it may be beneficial for the counselor to help the client resolve the motivation and cause of these emotional cutoffs. By addressing this issue first, the client could develop healthier relationships with significant others and coworkers in the present and address any cutoff relationships from the past.

Another finding of this study suggests that college students who are highly proactive are more differentiated from others. Counselors can assist college students with becoming more differentiated from others by focusing on activities that will make them more proactive. By encourage students to engage in proactive activities, the counselor can assist the client with becoming more independent, making their own decisions, and improving their overall self-worth.

In this study, differentiation of self and proactivity predicted career decision-making of college students. This finding emphasizes the importance of integrating all three constructs in the counseling session to improve the overall functioning of the client. By focusing on the individuality of the client and empowering the client to show initiative, this can improve their decision making. This will provide a secure base for the client to safely explore different careers and make a practical decision.

### **Future Directions for Research**

In this study, a majority of the participants were Latino/Hispanic (46%) and Caucasian/White (37%). Future directions for research include greater ethnic/racial diversity. This could include utilizing a larger sample size for each of the ethnic groups represented in this study to discover the differences between these groups with regards to proactive personality, career decision-making, and differentiation. Research that includes more diversity of perspectives and values could provide important additional information concerning differentiation of self, proactivity, and career decidedness.

This study researched the career decision-making process of undergraduate college students. Future research could include young adults from outside the college environment. This could include individuals a high school diploma, those who did not graduate from high school, individuals with a GED, those with a Bachelor's or graduate degree, and individuals currently in the workforce in varying positions (e.g. cashier, sales associate, director). By investigating individuals at different points in their education or career, it would make the findings more generalizable and could address cultural differences related to ideas of differentiation.

In this study, there was no data analysis to examine gender differences. Future research could include an examination that considers male and female college students to see if there is a difference between the constructs utilized in this study by gender. An examination of differences by gender related to differentiation of self and proactivity might reveal important differences in career decision-making by males and females.

This study discussed current differentiation levels of college students and not the process of how they attained their differentiation levels. Research concerning how an individual becomes differentiated from childhood to adulthood could be helpful in understanding the relationship between differentiation and career decision-making. Future research could focus on how the career decision-making process is affected by the interactions with family members.

In this study, there was no socioeconomic status (SES) data collected. Previous research by Hsieh and Huang (2014) found that college students who reported higher levels of SES had greater confidence in their career decision-making skills. Future research perhaps could focus on how SES might relate to differentiation, proactive personality, and career decision-making.

### Conclusions

The primary purpose of this multiple regression study was to discover whether differentiation of self and proactive personality predicted career decidedness. The Proactive Personality Scale, Differentiation of Self Inventory, and Career Decision Scale were assessed to examine research questions. Results suggest elements from each of the measures of differentiation of self and proactive personality significantly predict career decision-making. The results of this investigation can be of value to individuals who influence the career decision-making process of students, including career counselors, students themselves, family members, and friends.

### REFERENCES

- Albion, M.J., & Fogarty, G.J. (2002). Factors influencing career decision-making in adolescents and adults. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 10, 91-126. doi:10.1177/1069072702010001006
- Ali, S.R., & Menke, K.A. (2014). Rural Latino youth career development: An application of social cognitive career theory. *The Career Development Quarterly, 62,* 175-186. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2014.00078.x
- Ashby, J. D., Wall, H. W., & Osipow, S. H. (1966). Vocational certainty and indecision in college freshmen. *Personnel and Guidance Journal*, *44*, 1037-1041. doi: 10.1002/j.2164-4918.1966.tb03829.x
- Ashford, S.J., & Black, J.S. (1996). Proactivity during organizational entry: The role of desire for control. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81, 199-214. doi:10.1037//0021-9010.81.2.199
- Ault-Riche, M. (1986). A feminist critique of five schools of family therapy. In M. Ault-Riche (Ed.), *Women and family therapy* (pp. 1-15). Rockville, MD: Aspen.
- Baba, V. V., Tourigny, L., Wang, X., & Liu, W. (2009). Proactive personality and work performance in China: The moderating effects of emotional exhaustion and perceived safety climate. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*, *26*, 23–37. doi:10.1002/CJAS.90
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review, 84,* 191–215. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. Health Education and

- Behavior, 31, 143–164. doi:10.1177/1090198104263660
- Bandura, A. (2011). The social and policy impact of social cognitive theory. In M. M. Mark,S. I. Donaldson, & B. Campbell (Eds.), *Social psychology and evaluation* (pp. 31–71).New York, NY: Guilford.
- Bateman, T. S., & Crant, J. M. (1993). The proactive component of organizational behavior: A measure and correlates. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *14*, 103-118. doi:10.1002/job.4030140202
- Belenky, M. F., Clinchy, B. M., Goldberger, N. R., & Tarule, J. M. (1986). Women's ways of growing: The development of self, voice, and mind. New York: Basic Books.
- Betz, N. E., Klein, K. L., & Taylor, K. M. (1996). Evaluation of a short form of the Career
   Decision-Making Self-Efficacy Scale. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 4, 47-57.
   doi:10.1177/106907279600400103
- Blustein, D. L. (1992). Applying current theory and research in career exploration to practice. *The Career Development Quarterly, 41*, 174-184.

  doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.1992.tb00368.x
- Blustein, D. L., Pauling, M. L., DeMania, M. E., & Faye, M. (1994). Relations between exploratory and choice factors and decision progress. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 44, 75-90.
- Bowen, M. (1976). Theory in the practice of psychotherapy. In P. J. Guerin Jr. (Ed.), *Family therapy: Theory and practice* (pp. 42–90). New York, NY: Garner Press.
- Bowen, M. (1978). Family therapy in clinical practice. New York: Jason Aronson.
- Bowlby, J. (1988). A secure base: Clinical applications of attachment theory. London, England: Routledge.

- Brown, D., & Brooks, L. (1991). Career counseling techniques. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Brown, S. D., Tramayne, S., Hoxha, D., Telander, K., Fan, X., & Lent, R. W. (2008).

  Social cognitive predictors of college students' academic performance and persistence:

  A meta-analytic path analysis. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 72, 298–308.

  doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2007.09.003
- Buss, D.M. (1987). Selection, evocation, and manipulation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. 53, 1214-1221. doi:10.1037//0022-3514.53.6.1214
- Callanan, G. A., & Greenhaus, J. H. (1990). The career indecision of managers and professionals: Development of a scale and test of a model. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *37*, 79- 103. doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(90)90008-P
- Callanan, G. C., & Greenhaus, J. H. (1992). The career indecision of managers and professionals: An examination of multiple subtypes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *41*, 212-231. doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(92)90023-S
- Carter, B., & McGoldrick, M. (Eds.). (1989). *The changing family life-cycle: A framework for family therapy* (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Chan, D. (2006). Interactive effects of situational judgment effectiveness and proactive personality on work perceptions and work outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*, 475–481. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.91.2.475
- Chung, Y. B. (2002). Career decision-making self-efficacy and career commitment: Gender and ethnic differences among college students. *Journal of Career Development*, 28, 277-284.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). New York: Psychology Press.
- Conklin, A.M., Dahling, J.J., & Garcia, P.A. (2013). Linking affective commitment, career self-

- efficacy, and outcome expectations: A test of social cognitive career theory. *Journal of Career Development*, 40, 68-83. doi:10.1177/0894845311423534
- Cox, D. W., Rasmussen, K. L., & Conrad, S. M. (2007, August). *Interventions designed to increase occupational engagement*. Paper presented at the annual convention of the American Psychological Association, San Francisco, CA.
- Coyle-Shapiro, J. A., Kessler, I., & Purcell, J. (2004). Exploring organizationally directed citizenship behavior: Reciprocity or "It's my job"? *Journal of Management Studies*, 41, 85–106.
- Crant, J. M. (2000). Proactive behavior in organizations. *Journal of Management*, 26, 435-462. doi:10.1016/S0149-2063(00)00044-1
- de Botton, A. (2009). The pleasures and sorrows of work. New York, NY: Pantheon.
- De Stobbeleir, K. E. M., Ashford, S. J., & de Luque, M. F. (2010). Proactivity with image in mind: How employee and manager characteristics affect evaluations of proactive behaviours. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 83, 347–369. doi:10.1348/096317909X479529
- Dewar, D.L., Plotnikoff, R.C., Morgan, P.J., Okely, A.D., Costigan, S.A., & Lubans, D.R.
   (2013). Testing social-cognitive theory to explain physical activity change in adolescent girls from low-income communities. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 84, 483-491. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2013.842454
- Dimitrov, D.M. (2009). *Quantitative Research in education: Intermediate & Advanced methods*.

  Oceanside, New York: Whittier Publications, Inc.
- Downing, H. M., & Nauta, M. M. (2010). Separation-individuation, exploration, and identity

- diffusion as mediators of the relationship between attachment and career indecision. *Journal of Career Development, 36,* 207–227. doi:10.1177/0894845309345848
- Erdogan, B., & Bauer, T. N. (2005). Enhancing career benefits of employee proactive personality: The role of fit with jobs and organizations. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*, 859–891. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2005.00772.x
- Esters, L.T. (2007). Career indecision levels of students enrolled in a college of agriculture and life sciences. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *48*, 130-141. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.04130
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160. doi:10.3738/brm.41.4.1149
- Flum, H., & Blustein, D.L. (2000). Reinvigorating the study of vocational exploration: A framework for research. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *56*, 380–404. doi:10.1002/hrm.21553
- Fuller, B., & Marler, L. (2009). Change driven by nature: A meta-analytic review of the proactive personality literature. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 75, 329–345. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2009.05.008
- Fuqua, D. R., & Hartman, B. W. (1983). Differential diagnosis and treatment of career indecision. *Personnel and Guidance Journal*, 62, 27-29.
  doi: 10.1111/j.2164-4918.1983.tb00112.x
- Gati, I. (1986). Making career decisions: A sequential elimination approach. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *33*, 408-417. doi:10.1037//0022-0167.33.4.408
- Gati, I., & Asher, I. (2001). The PIC model for career decision-making: Prescreening, in-depth

- exploration and choice. In F. T. L. Leong & A. Barak (Eds.), *Contemporary models in vocational psychology: A volume in honor of Samuel Osipow* (pp. 7-54). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Gati, I., Krausz, M., & Osipow, S. H. (1996). A taxonomy of difficulties in career decision-making. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 43, 510–526. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.43.4.510
- Gati, I., Landman, S., Davidovitch, S., Asulin-Peretz, L., & Gadassi, R. (2010). From career decision-making styles to career decision-making profiles: A multidimensional approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 76, 277–291. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2009.11.001
- Gati, I, & Levin, N. (2014). Counseling for career decision-making difficulties: Measures and methods. *Career Development Quarterly*, 62, 98-113.
  doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2014.00073.x
- Gay, L. R., & Airasian, P. (2011). Educational research: Competencies for analysis and applications (10th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Gelatt, H. B. (1962). Decision-making: A conceptual frame of reference for counseling. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *9*, 240-245. doi: doi:10.1037/h0046720
- Gelatt, H. B. (1989). Positive uncertainty: A new decision-making framework for counseling. *Journal of Counseling Psychology, 36,* 252-256. doi:10.1037//0022-0167.36.2.252
- Gloria, A. M., & Hird, J. S. (1999). Influences of ethnic and nonethnic variables on the career decision-making self-efficacy of college students. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 48, 157–174.
- Hall, D.T. (1996). Protean careers of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. *Academy of Management Executive*, 10, 8-16. doi:10.5465/AME.1996.3145315

- Hampton, N.Z. (2005). Testing for the structure of the Career Decision-Making Self-Efficacy Scale-Short Form among Chinese college students. *Journal of Career Assessment*, *13*, 98-113. doi: 10.1177/1069072704270298
- Hartung, P. J., Lewis, D. M., May, K., & Niles, S. G. (2002). Family interaction patterns and college student career development. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 10, 78–90. doi:10.1177/1069072702010001005
- Heppner, P.P., Wampold, B.E., & Kivlighan, D.M. (2008). *Research Design in Counseling*. Belmont, CA: Thomson Higher Education.
- Holland, J. L., Daiger, D. C., & Power, P. G. (1980). My Vocational Situation: Description of an experimental diagnostic form for the selection of vocational assistance. Palo Alto, CA:Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Hou, C., Wu, L., & Liu, Z. (2014). Effect of proactive personality and decision-making self-efficacy on career adaptability among Chinese graduate students. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 42, 903-912.
- Hsieh, H., & Huang, J. (2014). The effects of socioeconomic status and proactive personality on career decision self-efficacy. *The Career Development Quarterly*, *62*, 29-43. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2014.00068.x
- Illouz, E. (2008). *Saving the modern soul: Therapy, emotions, and the culture of self-help.*Berkeley: University of California Press.

  doi:10.1002/j.1556-6678.2003.tb00241.x
- Jenkins, S., Buboltz, W., Schwartz, J., & Johnson, P. (2005). Differentiation of self and psychosocial development. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 27, 251–261. doi:10.1007/s10591-005-4042-6

- Jiang, Z., & Zhang, Z. (2012). Using social cognitive career theory to predict the academic interests and goals of Chinese middle vocational-technical school students. *Public Personnel Management*, 41, 59-68. doi:10.1177/009102601204100506
- Jin, L., Watkins, D., & Yuen, M. (2009). Personality, career decision self-efficacy and commitment to the career choices process among Chinese graduate students. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 74, 47–52. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2008.10.002
- Johnson, P., Nichols, C. N., Buboltz, W. C., & Riedesel, B. (2002). Assessing a holistic trait and factor approach to career development of college students. *Journal of College Counseling*, *5*, 4–14.doi:10.1002/j.2161-1882.2002.tb00202.x
- Johnson, P, Schamuhn, T.D., Nelson, D.B., & Buboltz, Jr., W.C. (2014). Differentiation levels of college students: Effects on vocational identity and career decision-making. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 62, 70-80. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2014.00071.x
- Johnson, P., & Waldo, M. (1998). Integrating Minuchin's boundary continuum and Bowen's differentiation scale: A curvilinear representation. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 20, 403–413.
- Jones, L. K., & Lohmann, R. C. (1998). The Career Decision Profile: Using a measure of career decision status in counseling. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 6, 209–230. doi:10.1177/106907279800600207.
- Josselson, R. (1987). Finding herself: Pathways to identity development in women. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Kahneman, D., Slovic, P., & Tvcrsky, A. (1982). *Judgment under uncertainty: Heuristics and biases*. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Katz, M. (1966). A model for guidance for career decision-making. Vocational Guidance

- Quarterly, 15, 2-10. doi:10.1002/j.2164-585X.1966.tb01148.x
- Kelly, R.R., & Hatcher, T. (2013). Decision-making self-efficacy and barriers in career decision making among community college students. *Community College Journal of Research* and *Practice*, *37*, 103-113. doi:10.1080/10668926.2011.585114
- Kerr, M. E., & Bowen, M. (1988). Family evaluation: An approach based on Bowen theory.

  New York, NY: Norton.
- Ketterson, T. U., & Blustein, D. L. (1997). Attachment relationships and the career exploration process. *The Career Development Quarterly, 46,* 167–178. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.1997.tb01003.x
- Kim, B., Jang, S.H., Jung, S.H., Lee, B.H., Puig, A., & Lee, S.M. (2014). A moderated mediation model of planned happenstance skills, career engagement, career decision self-efficacy, and career decision certainty. *Career Development Quarterly*, 62, 56-69. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2014.00070.x
- Kirby, E. G., Kirby, S. L., & Lewis, M. A. (2002). A study of the effectiveness of training proactive thinking. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *32*, 1538–1549. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb01451.x
- Knudson-Martin, C. (1994). The female voice: Applications to Bowen's family system theory.

  \*\*Journal of Marital & Family Therapy, 20, 35-46.\*\*

  doi: 10.1111/j.1752-0606.1994.tb01009.x
- Kott, K. (2014). Applying Bowen theory to work systems. *OD Practitioner*, 46, 76-82.
- Krieshok, T. S. (1998). An anti-introspectivist view of career decision-making. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 46, 210-229. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.1998.tb00697.x
- Krumboltz, J. D., & Levin, A. S. (2010). Luck is no accident: Making the most of happenstance

- in your life and career (2nd ed.). Atascadero, CA: Impact.
- Lawson, D., Gaushell, H., & Karst, R. (1993). The age onset of personal authority in the family system. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 19, 287–292.
- Lease, S., & Dahlbeck, D. (2009). Parental influences, career decision-making attributions, and self-efficacy. *Journal of Career Development*, *36*, 95–113.
- Leavitt, H, (1988). *Managerial Psychology: Managing Behavior in Organization*. Chicago, IL: Dorsey Press.
- Lee, H.-Y., & Hughey, K. F. (2001). The relationship of psychological separation and parental attachment to the career maturity of college freshmen from intact families. *Journal of Career Development*, *27*, 279–293. doi: 10.1023/a:1007855104473
- Lent, R. W., & Brown, S. D. (2008). Social cognitive career theory and subjective well-being in the context of work. *Journal of Career Assessment*, *16*, 6–21. doi:10.1177/1069072707305769
- Lent, R. W, Brown, S. D., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive theory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 45(1), 79-122. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.1994.1027
- Lent, R. W, Brown, S. D., & Hackett, G. (2000). Contextual supports and barriers to career choice: A social cognitive analysis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 47(1), 36-49. doi: 10.1037//0022-0167.47.1.36
- Lent, R. W., Brown, S. D., Schmidt, J., Brenner, B., Lyons, H., & Treistman, D. (2003). Relation of contextual supports and barriers to choice behavior in engineering majors: Test of alternative social cognitive models. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *50*, 458–465. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.50.4.458

- Lent, R. W., Sheu, H., Singley, D., Schmidt, J. A., Schmidt, L. C., & Gloster, C. S. (2008).

  Longitudinal relations of self-efficacy to outcome expectations, interests, and major choice goals in engineering students. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 73, 328–335.

  doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2008.07.005
- Luepnitz, D. A. (1988). *The family interpreted: Feminist theory in clinical practice*. New York: Basic Books.
- Magnusson, D., & Endler, N. (1977). Personality at the Crossroads: Current Issues in Interactional Psychology. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Mau, W. (2000). Cultural differences in career decision-making styles and self-efficacy. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *57*, 365–378. doi:10.1006/jvbe.1999.1745
- McGoldrick, M., & Carter, B. (2001). Advances in coaching: Family therapy with one person.

  \*\*Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 27, 281–300.\*\*

  doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2001.tb00325.x
- Mertler, C.A., & Vannatta, R.A. (2013). *Advanced and multivariate statistical methods:*Practical application and Interpretation. Glendale, CA: Pyrczak.
- Murtagh, N., Lopes, P.N., & Lyons, E. (2011). Decision-making in voluntary career change: An other-than-rational perspective. *The Career Development Quarterly, 59*, 249-263. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2011.tb00067.x
- Nauta, M.M., & Kahn, J.H. (2007). Identity status, consistency, and differentiation of interests, and career decision self-efficacy. *Journal of Career Assessment*, *15*, 55-65. doi: 10.1177/1069072705283786
- Osipow, S.H. (1987). *Career decision scale manual*. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.

- Osipow, S. H., & Gati, I. (1998). Construct and concurrent validity of the Career Decision-Making Difficulties Questionnaire. *Journal of Career Assessment*, *6*, 347-364. doi: 10.1177/106907279800600305
- Parker, S.K., & Collins, C.G. (2010). Taking stock: Integrating and differentiating multiple proactive behaviors. *Journal of Management*, *36*, 633-662. doi:10.1177/0149206308321554
- Patterson, S.J., Sochting, I., & Marcia, J.E. (1992). The inner space and beyond: Women and identity. In G.R. Adams, T.P. Gullotta, R. Montemayor (Eds.), *Adolescent identity formation*, (pp. 9-24). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Quimby, J. L., & O'Brien, K. M. (2004). Predictors of student and career decision-making self efficacy among nontraditional college women. *The Career Development Quarterly, 52,* 323–339. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2004.tb00949.x
- Rainey, L. M., & Borders, L. D. (1997). Influential factors in career orientation and career aspiration of early adolescent girls. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *44*, 160–172. doi:10.1037//0022-0167.44.2.160
- Robbins, S. B., Lauver, K., Le, H., Davis, D., Langley, R., & Carlstrom, A. (2004). Do psychosocial and study skill factors predict college outcomes? A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin, 130,* 261–288. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.130.2.261
- Rogers, M. E., Creed, P. A., & Glendon, A. I. (2008). The role of personality in adolescent career planning and exploration: A social cognitive perspective. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 73, 132–142. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2008.02.002
- Rowell, P.C., Mobley, A.K., Kemer, G., & Giordano, A. (2014). Examination of a group

- counseling model of career decision-making with college students. *Journal of College Counseling*, 17, 163-174. doi:10.1002/j.2161-1882.2014.00055.x
- Sampson Jr., J.P., McClain, M., Musch, E., & Reardon, R.C. (2013). Variables affecting readiness to benefit from career interventions. *Career Development Quarterly*, *61*, 98-109. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2013.00040.x
- Sauermann, H. (2005). Vocational choice: A decision-making perspective. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 66, 273–303. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2004.10.001
- Schmitt-Rodermund, E., & Vondracek, F. W. (1999). Breadth of interests, exploration, and identity development in adolescence. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *55*, 298-317.
- Seibert, S. E., Crant, J. M., & Kraimer, M. L. (1999). Proactive personality and career success. *Journal of Applied Psychology, 84*, 416–427. doi:10.1037//0021-9010.84.3.416
- Skowron, E. A., & Friedlander, M. L. (1998). The Differentiation of Self Inventory:

  Development and initial validation. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *45*, 235–246.

  doi:10.1037//0022-0167.45.3.235
- Song, B. I., & Park, Y. J. (2005). *Career planning and employment strategy*. Seoul, Korea: Hakjisa.
- Spencer, B., & Brown, J. (2007). Fusion or internalized homophobia? A pilot study of Bowen's differentiation of self hypothesis with lesbian couples. *Family Process*, *46*, 257-268. doi: 10.1111/j.1545-5300.2007.00208.x
- Sugalski, T. D., & Greenhaus. J. H. (1986). Career exploration and goal setting among managerial employees. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *29*, 102-114. doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(86)90033-3
- Swain, R. (1984). Easing the transition: A career planning course for college students. *The*

- Personnel and Guidance Journal, 62, 529-533. doi:10.1111/j.2164-4918.1984.tb00269.x
- Swanson, J. L., & D'Achiardi, C. (2005). Beyond interests, needs/values, and abilities: Assessing other important career constructs over the life span. In S. D. Brown & R. W. Lent (Eds.), *Career development and counseling*, (pp. 353-381). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Thompson, J. A. (2005). Proactive personality and job performance: A social capital perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90, 1011–1017. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.90.5.1011
- Tokar, D. M., Withrow, J. R., Hall, R. J., & Moradi, B. (2003). Psychological separation, attachment security, vocational self-concept crystallization, and career indecision:
   A structural equation analysis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 50, 3–19.
   doi:10.1037/0022-0167.50.1.3
- Tolentino, L. R., Garcia, P. R. J. M., Lu, V. N., Restubog, S. L. D., Bordia, P., & Plewa, C. (2014). Career adaptation: The relation of adaptability to goal orientation, proactive personality, and career optimism. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 84, 39-48. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2013.11.004
- United States Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2005). *National longitudinal survey*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.bls.gov/nls/">http://www.bls.gov/nls/</a>
- Wang, N., Jome, L. M., Haase, R. F., & Bruch, M. A. (2006). The role of personality and career decision-making self-efficacy in the career choice commitment of college students.
  Journal of Career Assessment, 14, 312–332. doi:10.1177/1069072706286474
- White, N.J., & Tracey, T.J.G. (2011). An examination of career indecision and application to disposition authenticity. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 78, 219-224. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2010.09.015
- White, R. W. (1959). Motivation reconsidered: The concept of competence. *Psychological*

- Review, 66, 297-333. doi:10.1037/h0040934
- Wright, S.L., Perrone-McGovern, K.M., Boo, J.N., & White, A.V. (2014). Influential factors in academic and career self-efficacy: Attachment, supports, and career barriers. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 92, 36-46. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2014.00128.x
- Zhang, Z., Wang, M., & Shi, J. (2012). Leader-follower congruence in proactive personality and work outcomes: The mediating role of leader-member exchange. *Academy of Management Journal*, *55*, 111-130. doi: 10.5465/amj.2009.0865
- Zunker, V. G. (2001). *Career counseling: Applied concepts of life planning* (6th ed.). Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.

## **APPENDICES**

Appendix A: Demographic Form

### **DEMOGRAPHIC FORM**

For the following items, please select the *one* response that is most descriptive of you. Sex (Circle One): Male Female Age: \_\_\_\_\_ Ethnicity (Circle One): Latino/Hispanic Black/African American (Non-Hispanic) Caucasian/White Asian or Pacific Islander Native American Other: \_\_\_\_\_ Major (s): \_\_\_\_\_ Minor (s): \_\_\_\_\_ Year in College (Circle One): Freshman Sophomore

Senior

Junior

Please do not write your name on this form.

# Appendix B: Shortened Version of Bateman and Crant's (1993) Proactive Personality Scale

# Shortened Version of Bateman and Crant's (1993) Proactive Personality Scale

Responses are made on a scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 7 (Strongly Agree)							
1. I am constantly on the lookout for new ways to improve my life.							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2. Wherever I have been, I have been a powerful force for constructive change.							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3. Nothing is more excit	ting than	n seeing	my ide	as turn i	into real	lity.	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4. If I see something I d	on't like	e, I fix it	t.				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5. No matter what the odds, if I believe in something I will make it happen.							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6. I love being a champion for my ideas, even against others' opposition.							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7. I excel at identifying opportunities.							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8. I am always looking for better way to do things.							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9. If I believe in an idea, no obstacle will prevent me from making it happen.							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10. I can spot a good op	portunit	y long b	pefore o	thers ca	ın.		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

# Appendix C: Differentiation of Self Inventory

# **Differentiation of Self Inventory**

These are questions concerning your thoughts and feelings about yourself and relationships with others. Please read each statement carefully and decide how much the statement is *generally true* of you on a **1** (*not at all true of me*) to **6** (*very true of me*) scale. If you believe that an item does not pertain to you (e.g., you are not currently married or in a committed relationship, or one or both of your parents are deceased), please answer the item according to your best guess about what your thoughts and feelings would be in that situation. Be sure to answer every item and try to be as honest and accurate as possible in your responses.

1. F	People have remain	arked that I'm o	verly	emotion	al.				
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
2. I	have difficulty ex	xpressing my fe	elings	to peop	le I car	e for.			
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
3. I	often feel inhibit	ed around my f	amily.						
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
4. I	tend to remain p	retty calm ever	n unde	r stress.					
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
5. I	'm likely to smoo	th over or settle	e confl	icts betv	veen tw	o peopl	e whom I	care about.	
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
6. \	When someone of	close to me disa	appoin	ts me, I	withdra	w from	him or he	er for a time.	
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
7. 1	No matter what h	appens in my li	fe, I kr	now that	I'll nev	er lose	my sense	of who I am.	
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
8. I	tend to distance	myself when p	eople	get too	close to	me.			
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
9. I	t has been said (	or could be sai	d) of n	ne that I	am still	very at	tached to	my parent(s)	•
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
10.	I wish that I were	en't so emotion	al.						
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
11.	I usually do not	change my beh	avior	simply to	please	e anothe	er person		
		1	2	3	4	5	6		
12.	My spouse or pa	artner could not	tolera	ite it if I v	were to	expres	s to him c	or her my true	feelings
	about some thin	gs.							
		1	2	3	4	5	6		

13	3. Whenever there is a prob	olem in	my rela	tionship	, I'm an	ixious to	get it settled right away.
		1	2	3	4	5	6
14	I. At times my feelings get t	the bes	t of me	and I ha	ave trou	ıble thin	king clearly.
		1	2	3	4	5	6
15	5. When I am having an arg	jument	with sor	neone,	I can s	eparate	my thoughts about the issue
	from my feelings about th	ne perso	on.				
		1	2	3	4	5	6
16	6. I'm often uncomfortable v	vhen pe	eople ge	et too cle	ose to r	ne.	
		1	2	3	4	5	6
17	'. It's important for me to ke	eep in to	ouch wit	h my pa	arents r	egularly	<i>1</i> .
		1	2	3	4	5	6
18	3. At times, I feel as if I'm rid	ding an	emotio	nal rolle	er coast	er.	
		1	2	3	4	5	6
19	9. There's no point in getting	g upset	about t	hings I	cannot	change	
		1	2	3	4	5	6
20	). I'm concerned about losir	ng my ir	ndepen	dence ir	n intima	te relati	onships.
		1	2	3	4	5	6
21	. I'm overly sensitive to crit	ticism.					
		1	2	3	4	5	6
22	2. When my spouse or parti	ner is a	way for	too lon	g, I feel	like I ar	m missing a part of me.
		1	2	3	4	5	6
23	B. I'm fairly self-accepting.						
		1	2	3	4	5	6
24	I. I often feel that my spous	e or pa	rtner wa	ants too	much f	from me	).
		1	2	3	4	5	6
25	5. I try to live up to my pare	nts' exp	ectation	ns.			
		1	2	3	4	5	6
26	6. If I have had an argumen	t with n	ny spou	-	artner, I	tend to	think about it all day.
		1	2	3	4	5	6
27	7. I am able to say no to oth	ners eve		-		•	
		1	2	3	4	5	6
28	B. When one of my relations	-		•			
		1	2	3	4	5	6

29	29. Arguments with my parent(s) or sibling(s) can still make me feel awful.					
	1	2	3	4	5	6
30	30. If someone is upset with me, I can't seem to let it go easily.					
	1	2	3	4	5	6
31	. I'm less concerned that others	approv	e of me	than I a	am abou	ut doing what I think is right.
	1	2	3	4	5	6
32	. I would never consider turning	to any	of my fa	amily me	embers	for emotional support.
	1	2	3	4	5	6
33	. I find myself thinking a lot abo	ut my re	elationsh	nip with	my spo	use or partner.
	1	2	3	4	5	6
34	. I'm very sensitive to being hur	t by oth	ers.			
	1	2	3	4	5	6
35	. My self-esteem really depends	s on ho	w others	think o	f me.	
	1	2	3	4	5	6
36	. When I'm with my spouse or p	artner,	I often f	eel smo	thered.	
	1	2	3	4	5	6
37	37. I worry about people close to me getting sick, hurt, or upset.					
	1	2	3	4	5	6
38	. I often wonder about the kind	of impre	ession I	create.		
	1	2	3	4	5	6
39. When things go wrong, talking about them usually makes it worse.						
	1	2	3	4	5	6
40	. I feel things more intensely that	an other	s do.			
	1	2	3	4	5	6
41	. I usually do what I believe is ri	ght rega	ardless	of what	others	say.
	1	2	3	4	5	6
42	. Our relationship might be bette	er if my	spouse	or parti	ner wou	ld give me the space I need.
	1	2	3	4	5	6
43	. I tend to feel pretty stable und	er stres	S.			
	1	2	3	4	5	6

## Appendix D: IRB Approval Letter



OFFICE OF RESEARCH COMPLIANCE

Division of Research, Commercialization and Outreach

6300 OCEAN DRIVE, UNIT 5844 CORPUS CHRISTI, TEXAS 78412 O 361.825.2497 • F 361.825.2755

### Human Subjects Protection Program

Institutional Review Board

APPROVAL DATE: August 6, 2014

TO: Mr. Wayne Smith

CC: Dr. Marvarene Oliver

FROM: Office of Research Compliance

Institutional Review Board

SUBJECT: Initial Approval

Protocol Number: 88-14

Title: Career decision making of college students: effects on differentiation levels and proactive

behaviors

Review Category: Qualifies for Exemption

### Approval determination was based on the following Code of Federal Regulations:

Eligible for Exemption (45 CFR 46.101)

Criteria for exemption has been met (45 CFR 46.101) - The criteria for exemption listed in 45 CFR 46.101 have been met (or if previously met, have not changed).

(2) Research involving the use of educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures or observation of public behavior, unless: (i) information obtained is recorded in such a manner that human subjects can be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects; and (ii) any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research could reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, or reputation.

## Provisions:

Comments: The TAMUCC Human Subjects Protections Program has implemented a post-approval monitoring program.

All protocols are subject to selection for post-approval monitoring.

This research project has been granted the above exemption. As principal investigator, you assume the following responsibilities:

- Informed Consent: Information must be presented to enable persons to voluntarily decide whether or not to participate in the research project unless otherwise waived.
- Amendments: Changes to the protocol must be requested by submitting an Amendment Application to the Research Compliance Office for review. The Amendment must be approved before being implemented.
- Completion Report: Upon completion of the research project (including data analysis and final written papers), a Completion Report must be submitted to the Research Compliance Office.
- 4. Records Retention: All research related records must be retained for three years beyond the completion date of the study in a secure location. At a minimum these documents include: the research protocol, all questionnaires, survey instruments, interview questions and/or data collection instruments associated with this research protocol, recruiting or advertising materials, any consent forms or information sheets given to participants, all correspondence to or from the IRB or Office of Research Compliance, and any other pertinent documents.

5. 6.	Adverse Events: Adverse events must be reported to the Research Compliance Office immediately.  Post-approval monitoring: Requested materials for post-approval monitoring must be provided by dates requested.